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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors and the management, | have the pleasure to
present you with the annual results of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2016 (the “Financial Year”).

During the Financial Year, the Group underwent a substantial transformation,
undergoing a change in control and successfully completing the disposal of
the Personal Computer Products Distribution and Electronics Components
Distribution business segments. Since the introduction of new management, the
Group has been actively expanding its capabilities from our remaining old business
in traditional Electronic Products Manufacturing, to the provision of Information
Technology (“I.T.”) Integration and Solutions Services serving Industry 4.0, or what
is being described as the fourth industrial revolution.

| am also delighted to report that subsequent to the Financial Year, in April 2016,
the Group has appointed Mr. Sung Mahn Baker, Sam (“Mr. Baker”), as the Group’s
Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”). Mr. Baker, having previously served at IBM and
Samsung Electronics, brings significant technology industry experience to the
Group.

Industry 4.0

Industry 4.0 involves equipping and upgrading manufacturing lines with smart
technologies including Internet-of-Things (IoT), big data analytics, and advanced
computing that aim to monitor, predict and condition the full processes of
manufacturing in real-time to enhance factory-level productivity, responsiveness
and yield. The implication of Industry 4.0 technologies is profound; it changes
the way manufacturers think about services and business models, |.T. security,
reliability and continuous productivity, machine safety and the industry value chain.

The New Business

On 23 December 2015, the Group entered into several agreements with Hon
Hai Precision Industry Company Limited (“Hon Hai”), namely, |.T. System
Operation and Maintenance Framework Agreement, Build-Own-Operate and I.T.
Project Framework Agreement, Procurement Framework Agreement and Sales
Framework Agreement (collectively “Framework Agreements”).

o Pursuant to the I.T. System Operation and Maintenance Framework
Agreement, the Group agreed to provide I.T. services to Hon Hai Group to
support its existing I.T. infrastructure, including I.T. strategic planning, I.T.
management, I.T. deployment and transfer, |.T. maintenance, I.T. system
design and I.T. value-added services.

o Under the Build-Own-Operate and I.T. Project Framework Agreement,
the Group agreed to provide project-based system integration services
to Hon Hai Group, including but not limited to design and development
of new systems, provision of application programming recommendations,
and installation. These projects are customized according to customer
specifications and needs with reference to their manufacturing plan and
development which include, among others, smart factory, smart office,
video conferencing, cloud computing, enterprise application and mobile
application.

3 Annual Report 2015/16 4 i}
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The Framework Agreements allow the Company to explore a long term and
strategic business relationship with Hon Hai, which is the world’s largest
electronics manufacturing services provider.

The Group’s new business, which was launched by the Group in the second half
of the Financial Year, is experiencing sequential growth and commanding a higher
gross profit margin than the electronic products manufacturing business, and it is
expected to become the main revenue driver for the Group in the coming financial
year. Management believes that by specialising in Industry 4.0 technologies,
proven by our work for Hon Hai, one of the most sophisticated manufacturing
groups in the world, the Group can deliver a clearly differentiated market position
as a strong new entrant in the technology integration and solutions market.

Change of Company Name

In order to signify the Group’s new business as its major revenue stream, the
Company has changed its name to “Maxnerva Technology Services Limited” from
2 March 2016.

The Legacy Business

The Group’s remaining traditional Electronic Products Manufacturing business
suffered as revenue and gross margin faced significant competitive pressure.
The business was unable to turn around from last year’s loss making position
which was exacerbated by impairments of inventories, plant and machinery.
Management will closely monitor the situation in this old business and will take all
necessary and appropriate measures to preserve value for shareholders.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank you for your unfailing support
during the Financial Year and say that | sincerely expect to be able to report on
positive progress in the years ahead.

Hui Lap Shun John
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
RESULTS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group has undertaken a significant
change in its business focus, creating a new L.T. Integration and Solutions Services
segment to serve the rapidly growing “Industry 4.0” market. As a consequence,
the results for the year ended 31 March 2016 include businesses that have either
been disposed of or discontinued. It is important for shareholders of the Company
and potential investors to recognise this significant change in business focus when
assessing the past performance of the Company and its future prospects.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, revenue of the Group was reported as
approximately HK$111.3 million (2015: restated HK$130.3 million), representing
a decrease of 14.6% when compared with the last financial year. The Group
recorded a consolidated gross loss from continuing operations of approximately
HK$28.0 million (2015: restated gross profit of HK$23.9 million).

After non-recurring items such as provision for impairment of inventories of
approximately HK$26.3 million and impairment of property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$7.8 million, the Group’s loss from continuing operations was
approximately HK$72.8 million as compared to a restated profit of approximately
HK$3.9 million in the last financial year. The Group’s loss for the year from
discontinued operations was approximately HK$24.8 million (2015: restated
HK$43.6 million).

INVENTORY AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

The inventory level decreased to approximately HK$43.3 million (2015: HK$116.3
million). Stock turnover was around 186 days (2015: 93 days). Trade receivables
(excluding notes receivables) decreased by HK$53.9 million to approximately
HK$26.9 million (2015: HK$80.8 million).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March 2016 were approximately HK$216.2
million (2015: HK$71.7 million). Total available banking facilities of the Group were
approximately HK$45.5 million (2015: HK$141.3 million), of which approximately
HK$28.3 million were available for use (2015: HK$63.5 million). The Group had a
net cash position as at 31 March 2016 and therefore the gearing ratio, which was
defined as total borrowings after netting off cash and cash equivalents (net debt)
to total capital (being total equity plus net debt) was not applicable as at 31 March
2016 (2015: 1.7%).

The Group’s assets were mostly financed by shareholders’ equity, trade payables
and bank borrowings. Trade payables were repayable within one year. Bank
borrowings comprised trade financing repayable within one year based on original
contractual maturity.

5 Annual Report 2015/16 4 i}
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Borrowings were mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States
dollars (“US dollars”). The Group’s cash and cash equivalents were denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, New Taiwanese dollars and Chinese Renminbi.
Most of the Group’s borrowings were interest-bearing at floating rates which were
based on the HIBOR rate or London LIBOR rate. As a substantial part of trade
payables and bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US
dollars, the exchange rate risk of the Group is not expected to be material. The
Group did not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

CHANGE IN CONTROL AND DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS

On 29 April 2015, Mr. Lau Tak Wan (“Mr. Lau”), Ms. Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky (“Ms.
Chan”), together with the entities controlled by them entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement with Asia-IO Acquisition Fund, L.P. (the “Offeror”)
in respect of selling their entire equity interest in the Company, representing
55.17% of the Company’s shares at that date at a consideration of approximately
HK$276.0 million. On the same date, an entity controlled by Mr. Lau entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with the Company in respect of the disposal
of the Group’s operating segments of electronic components distribution and
personal computer products distribution, and certain property holding entities (the
“Disposal”).

On 29 April 2015, the Company also entered into three separate share
subscription agreements with the Offeror, Asia-lIO Holdings Limited and Huatai
Principal Investments Limited (the “Parties”) pursuant to which the Company
conditionally agreed to issue for a total of 225,000,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company at HK$1.144 per share, representing a total amount of HK$257.4
million. The market price in the same date was HK$4.42 per share. The gross
proceeds of the subscription will primarily be used to strengthen the engineering
and managerial teams, increase the working capital base, upgrade the Company’s
production and/or service capabilities, and to explore new business opportunities,
details of which are set out as follows:

o approximately HK$150 million to build and expand a dedicated team of
sales, software development and system implementation professionals to
further explore and expand the business opportunities of the Group. It was
intended to hire five senior management by the end of March 2016 who
will oversee the operation and lead the fellow programmers, engineers,
consultants and technicians to market and implement the smart solutions
services for potential customers. It is expected the Group will gradually
expand such team to 300 people for project design, development and
implementation by the end of 2017;

. approximately HK$80 million to strengthen the general working capital
base which includes, among others, sales and marketing expenses for
the proposed new smart solutions services, purchase of inventory and
administrative expenses for expanding its offices; and

o the balance of approximately HK$27 million for selective capacity
expansion and upgrade of production facilities to accommodate the
proposed production of smart sensor devices and loT devices by the
business of the Group.
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At the special general meeting held on 19 October 2015, independent
shareholders duly passed the ordinary resolutions to approve these agreements
and the declaration and distribution of a special dividend of HK 23 cents per
ordinary share after the completion of these agreements. The transactions
contemplated under these agreements were duly completed on 29 October
2015 and the consideration on the Disposal was agreed at approximately
HK$102.4 million which was mainly used to distribute to shareholders as special
dividend. The special dividend totaling approximately HK$100.6 million was
paid to shareholders on 4 November 2015. Immediately upon completion of the
agreements, the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it were interested in
a total of 466,221,529 Shares, representing approximately 70.40% of the then
issued share capital of the Company.

Immediately following closing of the mandatory unconditional cash offer, the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it were interested in an aggregate of
466,326,329 Shares, representing approximately 70.42% of the then issued share
capital of the Company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Financial Year, the Group has undertaken a significant change in its
business focus after the Disposal. The Personal Computer Products Distribution
and Electronics Components Distribution segments were discontinued, eliminating
the Group’s low margin operations. Therefore these two segments were classified
as discontinued business in this annual report.

After the Disposal, the Group is engaged in the following major businesses:
. I.T. Integration and Solutions Services; and

° Electronic Products Manufacturing.

I.T. Integration and Solutions Services

Being the cornerstone of a major change in direction for the Group, the I.T.
Integration and Solutions Services segment commenced its operation in the
second half of the Financial Year to serve the fast growing “Industry 4.0” market
under which businesses are striving to drive efficiency through the digitalisation of
their manufacturing processes. There are four key drivers of digitalisation, namely:
(i) the Internet of Things (“loT”) and the Cloud, (i) Big Data, {iii) Artificial Intelligence
and (iv) Robotics, have combined to drive significant increases in spending on
Systems Integration solutions, which the Board believes will continue to offer the
Group significant opportunities for future business development.

The newly launched segment generated revenue of approximately HK$17.2 million
during the Financial Year, mainly from sales of |.T. products and provision of
project-based system integration services in the area of smart factory and smart
office initiatives.

7 Annual Report 2015/16 4 i}
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Following shareholders’ approval of various continuous connected transactions
(“CCT”) with Hon Hai Precision Industry Company Limited (“Hon Hai”) and its group
companies (“Hon Hai Group”) on 29 February 2016, the Group secured a number
of significant new orders from Hon Hai Group, to implement a series of Industry 4.0
Systems Integration projects across five of Hon Hai Group’s production plants in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The financial benefit of these contracts
is expected to be realised in the year ended 31 March 2017 and beyond. Further
projects with Hon Hai Group and other customers are under negotiation currently.

Under the terms of the CCT, it was approved that revenue of no more than
HK$3.1 billion, in aggregate, shall be generated from Hon Hai Group across the
three financial years ended/ending 31 March 2016, 2017 and 2018. Concurrently,
the Company has undertaken to generate at least 20% of its total revenue from
customers other than Hon Hai and its associates for each of the financial years
ended/ending 31 March 2016, 2017 and 2018 in order to diversify the Group’s
customer base.

In order to further enhance the Group’s Industry 4.0 technological capability, the
Group is actively exploring business collaborations with other leading industrial
companies. For instance, the Group entered into a memorandum of understanding
(“MOU”) in relation to business collaboration with another leading global player
in the I.T. industry (the “Partner”). Pursuant to the MOU, the Partner agreed to
provide assistance to the Group on, among others, introducing executive talent,
providing analytics tools and services, creating management systems and training
programs for the Group’s Industry 4.0 projects as well as providing subcontracting
services in connection with Hon Hai’s Industry 4.0 projects. In turn the Company
will serve as a subcontractor to the Partner’s Industry 4.0 projects. The Group is
also actively participating in a number of marketing events for I.T. Integration and
Solutions Services in both the public and commercial sectors in Hong Kong in
order to broaden our customer base and increase revenues in the long term.

To spearhead this new business direction, Mr. Baker, a former senior IBM and
Samsung Electronics executive, was appointed by the Board as the Group’s CEO
in April 2016. Mr. Baker leads a growing team of senior executives drawn from
some of the world’s leading technology companies.

Electronic Products Manufacturing

The turnover of this segment decreased to approximately HK$94.1 million (2015:
restated of HK$130.3 million), representing a drop of 27.8% when compared to
last corresponding period. This segment suffered a loss of approximately HK$53.4
million (2015: restated profit of HK$3.9 million).

The segment aimed to concentrate on higher profit margin products and continued
to eliminate unprofitable products during the Financial Year. This was especially
spurred by the global economic slow down from the fourth quarter of 2015 when
the electronic products markets suffered rapidly, leading to a drop in market
demand and sales orders of electronic components in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Due to these deteriorating market conditions and keen competition in the Hong
Kong and the PRC markets, revenue and gross profit margin decreased resulting
in an operating loss.
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The condition of inventories at the end of the Financial Year was reviewed and
assessed. Part of the inventories had become unmarketable due to the decrease
of sales orders and sales forecast. Furthermore, the lease of the existing factory
plant will expire in 2017 and relocation may be necessary. Certain inventories and
some plant, machinery and equipment may need to be disposed of compulsorily.
In consideration of these issues, there are provision for impairment of inventories
of approximately HK$26.3 million and impairment of property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$7.8 million at the end of the Financial Year.

This segment had focused on the professional production of telecommunication
modules in mobile phone infrastructures. During the Financial Year, as a result of
changes of product design and revision of models of a major customer, the total
sales orders and revenue dropped, though the level of sales orders have returned
to normal towards the end of the Financial Year. The plant is equipped with surface
mount technology (“SMT”) production lines with nitrogen filled reflow furnaces and
precision quality assurance equipment in antistatic clean room. The production
team adopted certain automation processes and streamlined the production cycle
with better customer communication, quality control and logistics.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The management is optimistic about the prospects for the I.T. Integration
and Solutions Services segment, which spans the provision of system and
network integration, |.T. solutions development and implementation, and related
maintenance services. The management is positive on the outlook for this new
segment due to significant “Industry 4.0” growth drivers in the PRC and globally,
including:

(i) the PRC Government’s “Made in China 2025” plan to upgrade the PRC’s
industry; and

(i) the rapid development of the IoT market and the industrial internet services
market, which the management expects will generate increasing demand
for the Group’s I.T. Integration and Solutions Services.

In the Electronics Products Manufacturing segment, the increases in minimum
wages, social welfare payments and social insurance in the PRC continue to
impose burden on the cost of production. The Group will continue to invest in
automation to ease labor costs and to improve consistency in quality and efficiency
of production.

Across the Group, the management will continue to manage risks cautiously and
is well-prepared to withstand rapid changes and future challenges in the economic
environment. The Group will actively pursue business opportunities in order to
maximise shareholders’ value.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

There were no material events after 31 March 2016.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not make any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during the Financial Year.

9 Annual Report 2015/16 4 i}
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CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

There were no charges on the Group’s assets as at 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the year, there were no contingent liabilities noted by the Directors
(2015: Nil).

DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company declared and paid a
special dividend of HK 23 cents (2015: HK 5 cents) per ordinary share totaling
approximately HK$100,565,000 (2015: HK$21,862,000).

The Directors did not recommend any final dividend for the year ended 31 March
2016.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed and
confirmed that all the continuing connected transactions taken place during the
year and up to the year ended 31 March 2016 were (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the same on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company’s shareholders as whole.
Moreover, the Company’s auditor have provided an unqualified letter to the Board
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions taken place during the year ended 31 March 2016 in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange. For details of the continuing connected
transactions, please refer to heading “Continuing Connected Transactions and
Connected Transactions” in the Report of the Directors.

EMPLOYEES

At 31 March 2016, the Group employed a total of approximately 450 employees
(2015: approximately 600 employees) located in Hong Kong, the PRC and Taiwan.

The Board believes that the Group’s remuneration policy is in line with the
prevailing market practices and is determined on the basis of performance and
experience of the individuals. Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and
incentives in accordance with the achievement of their sales target. General staff
are offered year-end discretionary bonuses, which are based on the divisional
performance and individual appraisals. The Group also provides a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme and medical benefits to all Hong Kong employees.

The Group is committed to devote more resources in providing internal and external
training to the employees. In addition to sending staff to participate in seminars
and lectures, the Group continues recommending that qualified staff take part in
professional courses such as the ISO9000 Quality Systems. The training programs
not only enhance employees’ career development and professional knowledge, but
also contribute to enhancing the management system of the Group.
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The board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is committed to maintain
good corporate governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

The Company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31
March 2016, save for the deviations discussed below. The Board will continuously
review and improve the corporate governance practices and standards of the
Company to ensure that business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, they have confirmed that they have
fully complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 March 2016.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attention paid
to the growth and financial performance of the Group. The principal functions of
the Board are to:

(1) establish the strategic direction and development of the Group;

2) determine the broad policies, strategic plans and performance objectives
of the Group;

(3) monitor management performance;

(4) approve financial plans and annual budgets, major funding proposals, key
funding and investment proposals;

(5) oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk
management, financial reporting and compliance; and

(8) assume responsibility for corporate governance.
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BOARD OF DlRECTORS (continued)

The Board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control and overall
strategic development of the Group, as well as overseeing internal control,
financial performance, overall management and operations of the Group. The
Board has delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is responsible
for implementing the Group’s business strategies and managing the daily business
operations.

The Board comprises six executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year to approve annual
and interim results, and to review the business operation and the internal control
system of the Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings are also
held to approve major or special issues.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2016, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications on accounting or related financial
management expertise. The number of independent non-executive Directors has
represented at least one-third of the Board.

Given the nature and business objectives of the Company, the Board has a
balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of
the Company. List of Directors and their biographical details are set out on pages
28 to 30.

REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to members of key management (including all
Directors and senior management as disclosed in section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this report) for the year ended 31
March 2016 fell within the following bands:

A
Number of individual

—E-RF —T—hF

2016 2015

HK$3,000,001 - HK$4,000,000 1 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000 - —
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1 1
Nil - HK$1,000,000 6 6
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. Diversity of Board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All the Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

Schedules, notices and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available
to Directors in advance in accordance with Code Provision A.1.3.

Members of the Board, number of Board meetings held and the attendance of
each member during the year are set out as follows:

BE-Z-—XF=ZA=+—H

I FEHE " BITNERRE
Meeting attended/held during the

year ended 31 March 2016

BREXE

EEg General
Members of the Board Board Meeting
Executive directors
Mr. HUI Lap Shun, John (Chairman) (Note 1) 3/6 11
Mr. TSE Tik Yang, Denis (Note 1) 6/6 11
Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin, Mark (Note 1) 1/6 0/1
Mr. RYU Young Sang, James (Note 1) 4/6 0/1
Mr. BAKER Sung Mahn, Sam (CEOQ) (Note 2) TEAN/A TEAN/A
Mr. FUNG Wai Ching 10/18 1/3
Mr. LAU Tak Wan (Note 3) 10/10 3/3
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Note 4) 7/9 1/2
Mr. CHEUNG Wai Ho (Note 4) 6/7 0/2
Mr. CHONG Wing Kam, James (Note 4) 2/7 0/2
Independent non-executive directors
Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen (Note 5) 1/3 0/1
Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie (Note 5) 1/3 0/1
Mr. CHEN Timothy (Note 5) 1/3 11
Dr. Barry John BUTTIFANT (Note 6) 1/9 1/2
Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan (Note 6) 4/9 1/2
Dr. LIU Ngai Wing (Note 6) 4/9 1/2
Notes:
1. Appointed on 3 November 2015
2. Appointed subsequently on 12 April 2016
3. Resigned subsequently on 12 April 2016
4. Resigned on 25 November 2015
5. Appointed on 1 December 2015
6. Resigned on 1 December 2015
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BOARD MEETINGS

The executive Directors meet on a regular basis to discuss the ordinary business
of the Company. Board meetings are held to discuss the overall development,
operation, financial performance, interim results, annual results and other business
of the Company that requires approval from the Board. Reasonable notice has
been given to Board members to give them an opportunity to attend. All Board
members are provided with relevant documentation covering the subject matter of
the board meetings. Board members are also provided with sufficient information
in a timely manner to review and consider matters to be discussed at Board
meetings. The Company utilises telephone conferencing for Directors who are not
able to attend in person.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, all Directors discharged their duties in a
dedicated, diligent and proactive manner with reasonable prudence. They have
executed their duties in accordance with statutory requirements, the Company’s
Bye-laws (the “Bye- laws”) and the Listing Rules. All Directors have exercised due
care in monitoring corporate matters of the Company and provided sufficient time
and attention to all significant issues of Group.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the Code provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.

During the financial period and up to 3 November 2015, Mr. Lau Tak Wan was
the Chairman of the Board and the president of the Company. In the opinion of
the Board at that time, the role of the president and the CEO was the same. The
then Board considered that such arrangement provided the Group with strong
and consistent leadership and allowed for efficient and effective business planning
and execution. Since 3 November 2015, Mr. Hui Lap Shun, John assumed the
position of Chairman and acting CEO of the Company in the course of recruiting
the appropriate CEO. Mr. Baker was subsequently appointed as CEO as well as
executive Director on 12 April 2016. Code provision A.2.1 has been complied
since then.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors bring independent judgment to
the Board. Each independent non-executive Director has provided a written
confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
to the Company. Based on these confirmations, the Board considers that all
independent non-executive Directors have met the qualifications of Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2016.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Directors are appointed in accordance with their qualifications and experience to
ensure they are capable to perform their duties and protect the interests of the
stakeholders. Every newly appointed director receives a comprehensive and formal
introduction to ensure that he/she has an understanding of the Group’s business
and operation, his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements, and the Model Code.

Under the Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors shall be
appointed for a specific term and be subject to re-election. The independent non-
executive directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term of office of
one year and are subject to retirement by rotation at the Annual General Meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws. As such the Board
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those set out in the
Code.

According to the provisions of the Company’s Bye-laws and the Listing Rules,
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until
the next following general meeting of the Company, and in the case of an addition
to the existing Board, until the next following Annual General Meeting of the
Company. Furthermore, each Director, including those appointed for a specific
term or holding office as Chairman, are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary of the
responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong listed company,
the Company’s constitutional documents and the Guides on Directors’ Duties
issued by the Companies Registry to each newly appointed Director to ensure that
he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors
would be arranged whenever necessary.

During the year, all Directors and the company secretary (the “Company
Secretary”) confirmed that they have complied with the code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee to oversee particular
expects of the Group’s affairs. The committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable requests, are able
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses.

(a) Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises two independent non-executive Directors
and one executive Director. The current members are Mr. Kan Ji Ran,
Laurie, Mr. Tang Tin Lok, Stephen and Mr. Tse Tik Yang, Denis. Mr. Kan is
currently the Chairman of Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the board on, among other things, the Company’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of all directors and senior management of the
Company and review the specific remuneration packages for all executive
directors and senior management of the Company. The remuneration
package for Directors and senior management are determined by
reference to the skill, experience, performance, contribution to the
Company and the prevailing market condition.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Remuneration Committee
met once with presence of all the eligible members (i.e. Dr. Liu Ngai
Wing, Mr. Choi Yuk Fun and Mr. Lau Tak Wan) and reviewed and made
recommendation on the remuneration package of Directors of the Group.
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The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) which comprises two independent non-executive Directors
and one executive Director. The current members are Mr. Hui Lap Shun,
John, Mr. Kan Ji Ran, Laurie and Mr. Chen Timothy. Mr. Hui is currently the
Chairman of Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to:

(1) review the structure, size and composition of the Board (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes;

(2) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

(3) assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(4) make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors in particular the chairman and the president
(chief executive); and

(5) where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an independent non-executive Director at the general meeting,
the Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting why they believe the
individual should be elected and the reasons why they consider the
individual to be independent.

The Nomination Committee monitors and reviews the diversity policy
of the Board members. The Company recognises that diversity of the
Board members provides a balance of skill, experience and professional
knowledge for the Company’s business and future development. The
diversity policy is achieved by consideration of various aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional knowledge and experience with the business of the Company.
The ultimate decision on selection of candidates will be made upon the
merits and contribution that the selected candidate will bring to the board.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Nomination Committee met
once with the presence of all members (i.e. Mr. Lau Tak Wan, Dr. John
Barry Buttifant and Mr. Choi Yuk Fan).
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(c) BEREE® (c) Audit Committee

AANGERTEBZEEL  BETAEXE The Audit Committee was established and is governed by its written

Cl3E XEMBEHERE - BEXELEEH terms of reference with Code Provision C.3.3. It currently comprises three

AIEE=RE U IFMITES - BB REEEE - independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tang Tin Lok, Stephen,

HEAREERMRELEE - BT AEBRAER Mr. Kan Ji Ran, Laurie and Mr. Chen Timothy. Mr. Tang is currently the

ZEgXR - Chairman of Audit Committee.

EREZECBERTMNERAER ZHEHR The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the

BERAPEERSG  WRAEEERMESR financial reporting process and internal control system of the Group and

BER providing advice and recommendations to the Board.

EZEZEGMEREREINVEESIHEME L Audit Committee is also authorised to obtain outside legal or other

HEER  KINRAVEZBRT  BRAEG independent professional advice and to secure the attendance of outsiders

BEASHBIIINAALTEREEE - with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this necessary.

REBEE-_Z—R"E=ZA=1+—HILFE  &E& During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Audit Committee met twice

ZESBRITRMRESE  FTEAEKRKE (AERK with the presence of all members (i.e. Dr. Barry John Buttifant, Mr. Liu Ngai

AEL - BREETIREGSEEE)HEHE - Wing and Mr. Choi Yuk Fan).

RAFEERN  BRLZESEIT T TIRE During the year, the Audit Committee has performed the following duties:

1) HiZ SRR ERFR N BAREEZ (1) reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditor
ZHHMBERE  WiIRHERRESS and reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements, with
#HoE recommendations to the Board for approval;

@) EREER B NG AE 2) reviewed the changes in accounting standards and policies as
B BHREEEL B ELE well as assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s financial

statements;

(3) EHNAEBR v AHEZRGRERE (3) reviewed the Group’s internal control system and risk management
B MEEEEEESENE - £% - and discussed the relevant issues including financial, operational
HENERENEREEETE: and compliance controls, and risk management functions;

(4) BRI ARRE NEAEERZAHREE (4) reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory

requirements;

(5) ERNEFRET BRI AEINE XS (5) considered and recommended the appointment, re-appointment
B 2 38 B 2 BE PR ABR A and approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of

external auditor;

(6) BINEZ R B AR o E R (6) discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit
BMEBmET & and reporting obligations; and

) 1B 1% i F IS 2E 28 B e B SR HNIE AR A 2 ) reviewed and monitored external auditor’s independence
BYMREEM  UNZEREFZER and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
e accordance with applicable standards.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are in
accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Board also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements
of the Group.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, therefore the Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the Company,
provided the following services to the Group and their respective fees charged are
set out as follows:

W ER > &

Type of services Fees charged
FET

HK$'000

Audit services 1,900
Non-audit assurance services 1,700
Non-audit services 111
Total 3,711

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods in accordance with
statutory and regulatory requirements. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2016, the directors have adopted appropriate accounting
policies and applied them consistently. The financial statements for the reporting
year have been prepared on a going concern basis.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on pages
44 to 45 in the annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and risk
management and is committed to managing business risks and maintaining
a sound and effective internal control system to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets The effectiveness of the internal control system
was also discussed on a semi-annual basis with the Audit Committee.

The Group’s internal control system encompasses its policies, processes, tasks,
and other aspects of the Group that taken together:

(1) to facilitate its effective and efficient operation by allowing it to respond
appropriately on a timely basis to significant business, operational,
financial, compliance and other risks with a view of achieving business
objectives. This includes the safeguarding of assets from inappropriate
use or from loss and fraud and ensuring that liabilities are identified and
managed;

2) to help ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal or external reporting; and

(3) to help ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations, and
also with internal policies with respect to the conduct of business.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance of no material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tsang Hing Bun was appointed as company secretary of the Company with
effect from 3 November 2015. Although Mr. Tsang is not an employee of the
Company as required under Code Provision F.1.1 of the Code, the Company
has assigned Mr. Tse Tik Yang, Denis, the executive Director, as the contact
person with Mr. Tsang. Information in relation to the performance, financial
position and other major developments and affairs of the Group are speedily
delivered to Mr. Tsang through the contact person assigned. Hence, all Directors
are still considered to have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary in light of the above arrangement in accordance with Code Provision
F.1.4 of the Code. Having in place a mechanism that Mr. Tsang will get hold
of the Group’s development promptly without material delay and with his
expertise and experience, the Board is confident that having Mr. Tsang as the
Company Secretary is beneficial to the Group’s compliance with the relevant
board procedures, applicable laws, rules and regulations. For the year ended 31
March 2016, Mr. Tsang has duly complied with the relevant professional training
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities have been in
force to protect the Directors and officers of the Group from their risk exposure
arising from the business of the Group.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders are encouraged to maintain direct communication with the
Company. Shareholders who have any questions for the Board may write directly
to the Company’s Hong Kong principal place of business, Room 2138, 21/F,
The Centre, 99 Queen’s Road Central. Hong Kong, or they may send emails to
info@maxnerva.com. The Company Secretary will direct the questions to the
Board.

Any questions regarding the shareholdings of the shareholders can be addressed
directly to the Company’s branch registrar, Tricor Abacus Limited at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings if they are unable to attend the meetings.

The process of the Company’s general meeting will be monitored and reviewed
on a regular basis, and if necessary, changes will be made to ensure that
shareholders’ needs are best served.

Board members, in particular, either the chairman of Board committees or their
delegates, appropriate management executives and external auditors will attend
annual general meetings (“AGMs”) to answer shareholders’ questions.

Should shareholders wish to call a special general meeting, it must be convened
according to the Company’s Bye-laws. In summary:

(a) Any 2 or more shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company can, in writing to the Board, request a special
general meeting to be called by the Board to transact any business
specified in such request.

(b) The signed written request, which should specify the purpose of the
meeting, should be delivered to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong. If the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting within
twenty-one days after receiving the request, the shareholders themselves
may do so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates to its shareholders through announcements and
annual and interim reports published in its website http://www.maxnerva.com.
Shareholders may put enquiries to the Board in writing sent to the principal office
of the Company at Room 2138, 21/F, The Centre,99 Queen’s Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong. The directors, Company Secretary or other appropriate
members of senior management respond to enquiries from shareholders promptly.
All shareholders are also encouraged to attend general meetings of the Company
to discuss matters relating to the Group. At general meetings of the Company, the
Directors answer questions from the shareholders.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Constitutional Documents

There was no significant change to the Company’s Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws (“Constitutional Documents”) during the year ended 31 March 2016.
A latest version of the Constitutional Documents can be downloaded from the
websites of the Company or the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2016.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME, STOCK SHORT
NAME, COMPANY LOGO AND WEBSITE

According to the special resolution of the Company passed at the special general
meeting on 29 February 2016, with effect from 2 March 2016, the English name
of the Company has been changed from “Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited” to
“Maxnerva Technology Services Limited” and adopted the Chinese name of “Z%
[ERIF RIS BE AR as its secondary name to replace “AMEEZR AR A F)”
which had been adopted for identification purposes only. In line with the change of
company name, the Company has adopted new logo which will be printed on the
relevant corporate documents of the Company.

The stock short name for trading in the Shares of the Stock Exchange was
changed to “MAXNERVA TECH” in English and “E&ERH” in Chinese with
effect from 15 April 2016. The stock code of the Company on the Stock Exchange
remained as “1037”.

The website of the Company has been changed from “www.daiwahk.com/news”
to “www.maxnerva.com” with effect from 23 June 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the Electronic Products Manufacturing and provision of I.T. Integration
and Solutions Services.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to operating profit by
reportable segments for the year is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income
statement on page 46.

In the special general meeting on 19 October 2015, the shareholders had
approved a special dividend of HK 23 cents per ordinary share to shareholders
whose names appeared on the shareholder register on 27 October 2015.
The special dividend totaling HK$100.6 million was paid to shareholders on 4
November 2015.

The Directors do not recommend any payments of final dividend.

23 Annual Report 2015/16 4 i}



Ht
g
et
Off
T

Report of the Directors

KX DR

AEEAFENEBRERNAFRETEZOR [EKE
Bl  AEBAFECAEEPBRIVBRIELDN
RO AR AR FREBLSE [ FE LM BRIE]—H -

TERBRTABEE

RABMEBRREZB()EIREEMRN - FEEBAR
B BEARBEREREERBATENT K ((EER
B (iNEFEMNER  RiVEHEERORE -
REHRERRR
AEE-—ERBEREEGEAEEEEK 2 —  HUEAH
AIREEE RAEEET g RE -
EBTHEBEERZER
HEZZT—XR"F=-A=+—HLFE EFEHRTNE

BB KRR AR AR M AR AR EAY
SHEE -

BES FFRFRHEEHZBE

ARBTHEREREER FEFPFRHEEENEER  BAK

ERAEERIINES -
==

RNBBRBETREREEOMBERRARER - f
MCRBIES) - CaFlEATEE T EUES) R (EAER
(FLBB)IEHBI) & - Z!S‘Elai%ﬁé\lﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%%z%
b WEAELER - MESCEERESEE TE
NEF - ;I*ﬁ%ﬁ%i?ﬁz HRIENER © 1o
LB IRH @F&%D‘“E@Ifﬁaiﬁ B
BT ﬁ/‘ﬂ?&ﬂ?—rﬂﬁ%

EEEMEBRBEERAQS 24
Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year are provided in the section
headed “Business Review” on pages 7 to 9 of this annual report. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using key financial performance indicators
are provided in the section headed “Results and Financial Review” on page 5 of
this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company’s business risks are mainly (i) global economic condition that
influences the demand of introducing system integration service and smart
manufacturing solutions; (ii) currency risks; (i) demand for electronic products;
and (iv) pace of advance in technology.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has long considered environmental protection and energy conservation
as one of its key priorities in order to enhance the sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Board was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Company highly values the relationships with employees, customers and
suppliers as they are the foundation of the Group’s success.

Employees

The Company strictly complies with all the applicable rules and regulations in
relation to employment, to name a few, the Employment Ordinance, Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, etc. The Group
has purchased all necessary insurance and made monthly contributions for its staff
and has measures in place endeavored to protect all staff’s personal information.
There are channels for staff to express their opinions with regard to their work.
Moreover, the Group also strives to provide a safe, healthy and harmonious
workplace with fair and equal opportunities for staff of both gender.
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Customers

The Group provides direct services/goods to customers and conduct surveys to
interact with them to gain market insights and feedback.

Suppliers

The Group has either long established suppliers or suppliers from well-known
enterprises to ensure that they are able to deliver the goods/services as requested.
Furthermore, the Company has formulated anti-bribery policies for all staff to
comply.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2016 are set out in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the Company are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

The amounts and particulars of material transfers to and from reserves during the
year are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2016, the Company’s reserves is not available for distribution (2015:
HK$118.2 million).

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is distributable
to shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot declare or pay
a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (i) the realisable
value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium account.
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DONATIONS

The Group made donations of HK$0.2 million (2015: HK$0.2 million) during the
year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws
and there was no restriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for each
of the last five years until 31 March 2016 is set out on page 140.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2016, sales to the five largest customers of the
Group in total accounted for approximately 68.7% of the Group’s total turnover,
with the largest customer accounted for about 50.2%. The five largest suppliers
of the Group together in total accounted for approximately 90.2% by value of the
Group’s total purchases during the year, with the largest supplier accounted for
about 38.0%.

None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital)
had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.
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DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. HUI Lap Shun, John'

Mr. TSE Tik Yang, Denis’

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin, Mark!

Mr. RYU Young Sang, James'
Mr. BAKER Sung Mahn, Sam?
Mr. FUNG Wai Ching

Mr. LAU Tak Wan*

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky?
Mr. CHEUNG Wai Ho?

Mr. CHONG Wing Kam, James?

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen®

Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie®

Mr. CHEN Timothy®

Dr. Barry John BUTTIFANT®

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan®

Dr. LIU Ngai Wing®

Notes:

1 appointed on 3 November 2015

2 resigned on 25 November 2015

3 appointed subsequently on 12 April 2016
4 resigned subsequently on 12 April 2016
5 resigned on 1 December 2015

6 appointed on 1 December 2015

Mr. Fung Wai Ching will retire by rotation in accordance with Article 99 of the
Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) and, being eligible, offer himself for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM while each of Mr. Hui Lap Shun, John, Mr. Tse
Tik Yang, Denis, Mr. Chien Yi-Pin, Mark, Mr. Ryu Young Sang, James, Mr. Baker
Sung Mahn, Sam, Mr. Tang Tin Lok, Stephen, Mr. Kan Ji Ran, Laurie and Mr. Chen
Timothy will retire in accordance with Article 91 of the Bye-laws and, being eligible,
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of office of the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election at the
Company’s AGM in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

Mr. HUI Lap Shun, John, aged 60, was appointed as executive Director on 3
November 2015 and also chairman and acting CEO on 23 November 2015. Mr.
Hui is a veteran entrepreneur in the I.T. industry. In the mid- 1990s, Mr. Hui was
one of the founders of technology company eMachines, Inc., which was sold
to Gateway Inc. in 2004. In 2006, Mr. Hui acquired the European technology
company Packard Bell BV, which was sold to Acer Inc. in 2009, and acquired
InFocus, a digital display technology company in 2009. Mr. Hui is also the founder
and chairman of Fuhu, Inc., creator of the Nabi Pad and other cloudserved
software and products for children. Mr. Hui has an MBA from McMaster University.
Mr. Hui has been appointed as executive director of TeleEye Holdings Limited
on 10 June 2016, a company whose shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (“GEM”) of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 8051).

Mr. BAKER Sung Mahn, Sam, aged 49, was appointed as executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer on 12 April 2016. Mr. Baker has spent over 25
years of experience in leading technical and sales engagements worldwide
mainly in telecommunications, Information Technology (“I.T.”), electronics and
semiconductor industries. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Baker was the
vice president in sales of Samsung Electronics in Seoul, Korea where he led
sales for handsets, tablets, wearables and digital cameras in Southeast Asia
and Oceania regions and ran global marketing team for telecommunications
infrastructure solutions. Prior to working in Samsung Electronics, Mr. Baker held
various I.T. sales, services and solution engagement leadership roles over a
decade at International Business Machines (“IBM”) offering integrated software,
hardware, and professional services solutions addressing complex enterprisewide
challenges for global clients. His last role was a corporate vice president and a
managing director for one of less than 100 top globally integrated client accounts
representing all IBM business units to its client. Mr. Baker was awarded a Bachelor
of Science in computer engineering; a Master of Science in telecommunications
and a Master of Business Administration.

Mr. TSE Tik Yang, Denis, aged 40, was appointed as executive Director on 3
November 2015. Mr. Tse is the Head of Asia-Private Investments with Lockheed
Martin Investment Management Company. He has fifteen years of private equity
direct and fund investment experience in Asia, having worked with J.H. Whitney,
CDIB Capital, and HSBC Private Equity (Asia), where he became the first Kauffman
Fellow from an Asian venture firm. Mr. Tse is one of Chief Investment Officer “2014
Forty Under Forty”, and was named one of “Asia’s 25 most influential people in
private equity” by Asian Investor in 2013. Mr. Tse has an MBA from INSEAD and
a BSc (Hon.) from Northwestern University. Mr. Tse has been appointed as non-
executive director of TeleEye Holdings Limited on 10 June 2016, a company
whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 8051).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Executive directors (continued)

Mr. CHIEN Yi-Pin, Mark, aged 55, was appointed as executive Director on 3
November 2015. Mr. Chien is a director with Hon Hai Precision Industry Co.
Ltd. (“Hon Hai”) and general manager of NPCEBG, a business group within Hon
Hai with over US$25 billion annual revenues. Mr. Chien joined Hon Hai in 1991.
He studied at Tamkang University. Mr. Chien has been appointed as executive
director of TeleEye Holdings Limited on 10 June 2016, a company whose shares
are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 8051).

Mr. RYU Young Sang, James, aged 46, was appointed as executive Director on 3
November 2015. Mr. Ryu is the executive vice president and the head of business
development group with SK Holdings Co., Ltd., a leading Korean total I.T. services
provider that offers I.T. consulting, outsourcing, system integration and system
maintenance and repair services since 1991. Mr. Ryu was formerly the senior vice
president and head of corporate development Office with SK Telecom. Mr. Ryu
graduated with an MBA from University of Washington and has an MS and a BS in
Industrial Engineering from Seoul National University.

Mr. FUNG Wai Ching, aged 52, is the Executive Director of the Group. Mr. Fung
was awarded the Degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy by City University of
Hong Kong in 1992. He is responsible for the finance function of the manufacturing
division of the Group. Before joining the Group in 1994, Mr. Fung had 9 years of
experience in auditing and commercial accounting.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. TANG Tin Lok, Stephen, aged 39, was appointed as independent non-
executive Director on 1 December 2015. Mr. Tang is a partner and chief financial
officer of Lunar Capital. Prior to joining Lunar Capital, Mr. Tang was a director
with the Deloitte & Touche Financial Advisory Services Group where he focused
on private equity and merger and acquisition transactions in the PRC and the
Asia Pacific region. Mr. Tang began his career at the Financial Services Group at
Ernst & Young in Sydney, and subsequently relocated to Hong Kong and Beijing.
Mr. Tang received a MCom in Advanced Finance and BCom from the University
of New South Wales in Australia. He is a Chartered Accountant of the Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand, and a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. KAN Ji Ran, Laurie, aged 56, was appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 1 December 2015. Mr. Kan is a managing partner and founder of ON
Capital, a private equity firm that specialises in investing in China since 2004.
Prior to founding ON Capital, Mr. Kan established i100 Corporation in 1999, a
start-up incubator that went on to list on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. He had also served as chief operating officer of CDC Corporation,
founder of PointCast Asia, and had established Sina.com in Hong Kong. Mr. Kan
spent the earlier years of his career successively at Apple Computer, Compaq
Computer, and established Microsoft in Hong Kong and China. Mr. Kan graduated
in business from Hong Kong Baptist College and from the Stanford Graduate
School of Business’ Executive Program for Smaller Companies.

Mr. CHEN Timothy, aged 42, was appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 1 December 2015. Mr. Chen is a vice-president for business
development and strategy at VIA Technologies, a leading innovator of silicon
and platform technologies for personal computers. He also serves as technical
assistant to the president and chief executive of VIA. Mr. Chen began his career
with VIA in 1996 in its Taiwan headquarters, where he managed the sales and
marketing offices for Japan and Korea. In addition to his roles at VIA, he holds
board and advisory positions at a number of technology companies such as
Qifang, OpenMoko, WonderMedia, VIA Telecom, CatchPlay and Fugoo. Mr. Chen
is involved in social ventures, social media, premium content providers and core
hardware companies at the semiconductor and system level. He is also active as
an angel investor. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s degree in engineering from the
University of California, Berkeley.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company has not entered into any equity-
linked agreement.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Except for Mr. Fung Wai Ching, all executive Directors have not entered into
any service contracts and do not have fixed term of service with the Company.
However, all Directors are subject to re-election by rotation at least once every
three years in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company for one year and is renewable automatically for successive
term of one year.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which cannot be
terminated by the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Financial Year or at any
time during the Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or their respective
associates has any interest in a business which competes or may compete with
the business of the Group.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

As far as the Directors are aware, at no time during the year had the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, and the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries
entered into any contract of significance or any contract of significance for the
provision of services by the Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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(a) REQREBREMEIGETZROFRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

At 31 March 2016, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which were required, pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO),
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the
Company, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(a) Long position in the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

ERTEBER CTEIAMMAREKRGZEE
SRITEER
Number of issued ordinary shares/underlying shares attached to
derivatives ordinary shares in issue

EEHR

Name of director

A
Mr. Tse Tik Yang, Denis

Kt

1. FA 52 383,608,260 % i 17 A Asia-10 Acquisition Fund,
LP.(E—A& ¥ A AAsia-lO Acquisition GP Limited)
H@m A 43,439,139 & % 17 5 Asia-10 Holdings
Limited & %5 # & ; 2,416,958 & % 13 M Asia-10
Advisors Limited & z5 # A& * 1 Asia-IO Acquisition
GP Limited * Asia-IO Holdings Limited } Asia-10
Advisors Limited D Bl & B fl t A E R EAEE X
R 100% * 95% K 100% * #f 5% & # 47 B 7 Asia-10
Acquisition GP Limited + Asia-IO Holdings Limited 2
Asia-10 Advisors Limited# A #IR (7 76 1 4 o

ERENBRBBERAR 82

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

AR EEER R
Personal Ktz Corporate Total Bok
interests Notes interests interests Percentage
- 1 429,464,357 429,464,357 64.85%
Notes:
1. Given that 383,608,260 Shares were beneficially owned by Asia-10

Acquisition Fund, L.P. whose general partner is Asia-IO Acquisition GP
Limited; 43,439,139 Shares were beneficially owned by Asia-IO Holdings
Limited; 2,416,958 Shares were beneficially owned by Asia-IO Advisors
Limited, each of Asia-lIO Acquisition GP Limited, Asia-lO Holdings Limited
and Asia-lIO Advisors Limited is beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) as
to 100%, 95% and 100% respectively by Mr. Tse, who is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Asia-IO Acquisition GP Limited, Asia-10
Holdings Limited and Asia-IO Advisors Limited.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continueq)

(b) RARRQ TR EE 2 RH (b) Shares of associated corporations of the Company
BABES T

HEEERE EEHR RHOEE Approximate

Name of associated corporation Name of Director Number of shares percentage
Eilpehed i

Asia-10 Acquisition Fund, L.P. Tse Tik Yang, Denis N/A 0.01%
=W AN

Asia-IO Acquisition Fund, L.P. Chien Yi-Pin, Mark N/A 3.20%
CiFiNes —

Asia-10 Acquisition GP Limited Tse Tik Yang, Denis One 100.0%

BEXFRIEEIN  REZMRM  RARSEY - ARAES
SEFITRABBENARR L AR ZE(EEREFNIE
EBIEXV B8B) 2 Bt - HERORERETEERERES()
RIEFEZ R PEEPIEXV BE7 hFs HEAMG AR E R
R 2 A SRR (RIERIEE S R RG22 % F UK
SWEFRIAREE 2ERIOAR) ¢ (i) REESFRHERK
P1%362 RBRERZ Gl 2 BRM2 EAEIAR &
(i) R4z ETRRIFAEH LM BT AESETES R FHRETA
ARG AR R R 2 AT TR SOA R -

BREsTE

ARRERERAES ERRA( EWRA ) HE17
BZRE R-Z—=F/\A=TRBEFTZERBFK
G CRRR A AR A B ([ BT &) -

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as at the date of this
report, none of the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (i) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has, in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), as approved by the Shareholders of
the Company at the AGM held on 30 August 2013.
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SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEME (continued)

A summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme is set out as below:

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to
grant Options to selected Eligible Participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Group or any Invested
Entity. The Company considers that the Invested Entity, an entity in
which the Group holds an equity interest, may contribute to the Group’s
profits. The Company also considers that the granting of the Options to
the employee, director, officer or consultant of the Invested Entity would
provide an incentive for their contribution to the Invested Entity which
indirectly benefits the Group.

Administration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the
Board whose decision on all matters arising in relation to this Scheme or its
interpretation or effect shall (save as otherwise provided herein and in the
absence of manifest error) be final and binding on all persons who may be
affected thereby.

Grant and acceptance of Options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board may, in its
absolute discretion, invite any Eligible Participant to take up Options to
subscribe for Shares at a price calculated in accordance with paragraph (4)
below.

An offer of the grant of an Option shall be made to Eligible Participants in
writing (and unless so made shall be invalid) in such form as the Board may
from time to time determine and shall remain open for acceptance by the
Eligible Participant concerned for a period of twenty-one (21) days from the
date upon which it is made provided that no such offer shall be open for
acceptance after the earlier of the 10th anniversary of the Adoption Date
or the termination of the Share Option Scheme or the Eligible Participant to
whom such offer is made has ceased to be an Eligible Participant.

A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of an Option. An Option shall be deemed to
have been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of
the Option duly signed by the Eligible Participant together with the said
consideration of HK$1.00 is received by the Company.

Any offer of the grant of an Option may be accepted in respect of less
than the number of Shares in respect of which it is offered provided that
it is accepted in such number of Shares as represents a board lot for the
time being for the purpose of trading on the Stock Exchange or an integral
multiple thereof.
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SHARE OPT'ON SCHEME (continued)

a.

Exercise of Options and Price of Shares

An Option may be exercised in whole or in part by the grantee giving
notice in writing to the Company stating that the Option is thereby
exercised and the number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised.
Each such notice must be accompanied by a remittance for the full
amount of the subscription price for the Shares in respect of which the
notice is given. Within twenty-one (21) days after receipt of the notice and
the remittance and, where appropriate, receipt of the certificate of the
Company’s auditors or independent financial advisers, the Company shall
allot and issue the relevant Shares to the grantee (or his legal personal
representative(s)) credited as fully paid.

Holders of the Options are not entitled to voting, dividend, transfer and
other rights of the holders of the Shares, including those arising on a
liquidation of the Company, save as otherwise provided herein or under the
relevant laws or the memorandum of association of the Company and the
Bye-laws in effect from time to time. Shares to be allotted and issued upon
the exercise of an Option will be subject to all the provisions of the Bye-
laws for the time being in force and will rank pari passu in all respects with
the existing fully paid Shares in issue on the date on which the Option is
duly exercised or, if that date falls on a day when the register of members
of the Company is closed, the first day of the re-opening of the register
of members (the “Exercise Date”) and accordingly will entitle the holders
thereof to participate in all dividends or other distributions paid or made
on or after the Exercise Date other than any dividend or other distribution
previously declared or recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the
record date therefor shall be before the Exercise Date. A Share allotted
upon the exercise of an Option shall not carry voting rights until the name
of the grantee has been duly entered onto the register of members of the
Company as the holder thereof.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option Scheme may be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion but in any event will not
be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange as shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the Offer Date, which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average of the
closing prices of the Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of the
Stock Exchange for the five (5) Business Days immediately preceding the
Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share on the Offer Date.

Maximum number of Shares available for issue

(i) Subject to the Listing Rules, the overall limit on the number of
Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30 per cent. of the relevant class of Shares in
issue from time to time. No Options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company if this will result in this limit being exceeded.
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SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEME (continued)

5. Maximum number of Shares available for issue (continued)

(i

(ii)

(iv)

Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all Options to
be granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme shall not,
when aggregated with any Shares subject to any other share
option schemes of the Company involving the issue or grant of
option over Shares by the Company to, or for the benefit of the
Eligible Participants, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
date of the approval of the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”), unless shareholders’ approval has been obtained
pursuant to sub-paragraphs (i) and (iv) below. Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the Company may
refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject to approval
of the shareholders in general meeting, provided that the Scheme
Mandate Limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue as at the date of passing the relevant resolution. Options
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with such schemes
or exercised Options) will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the this limit. The Company must send a circular to the
shareholders containing such information as required under the
Listing Rules.

Subject to the limit mentioned in (5)(i) above, the Company
may also seek separate approval of the shareholders in general
meeting for granting Options beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit
provided that the Options in excess of the Scheme Mandate Limit
are granted only to Eligible Participants specifically identified by
the Company before such approval is sought. The Company
must send a circular to the shareholders containing a generic
description of the specified Eligible Participants, the number and
terms of Options to be granted, the purpose of granting Options
to the specified Eligible Participants with an explanation as to
how the terms of the Options serve such purpose and such other
information as required under the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPT'ON SCHEME (continued)

6.

Grant of Options to connected persons or any of their associates

Any grant of Option to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, under the Share Option Scheme must be approved
by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding an independent
non-executive Director who is the proposed grantee of the Option). Where
any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or an independent non-executive Director or any
of their respective associates, would result in the Shares issued or to
be issued upon exercise of all Options already granted or to be granted
(including Options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:

(@) representing in aggregate over 0.1 per cent. of the relevant class of
Shares in issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock
Exchange at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million,
such further grant of Options must be approved by shareholders of
the Company.

A circular must be prepared by the Company explaining the proposed
grant, disclosing (i) the number and terms of the Options to be granted,
(i) containing a recommendation from the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is a
grantee) on whether or not to vote in favour of the proposed grant, (iii)
containing information relating to any Directors who are trustees of the
scheme or have a direct or indirect interest in the trustees, and (iv) the
information required under Rule 2.17 of the Listing Rules.

Any change in the terms of Options granted to a connected person or its
associates must be approved by shareholders in a general meeting.
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SHARE 0PT|0N SCHEME (continued)

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each Eligible Participant or grantee (including
exercised and outstanding options) in any twelve (12)-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Where it is
proposed that any offer is to be made to an Eligible Participant (or where
approximate, an existing grantee) which would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the twelve (12) month period up to and including the relevant date of
grant to exceed such limit, such offer and any acceptance thereof must
be conditional upon shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such
Eligible Participant (or where appropriate, an existing grantee) and his,
her or its associates abstaining from voting. The Company must send a
circular to the shareholders disclosing the identity of the Eligible Participant
or grantee, the number and terms of options to be granted (and options
previously granted) to such Eligible Participant, the information required
under the Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the subscription
price) of options to be granted to such Eligible Participant must be fixed
before the date on which shareholders’ approval is sought and the date of
the Board meeting for proposing such further grant should be taken as the
date of grant for the purpose of calculating the subscription price.

Time of Exercise of Options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, an Option may be
exercised in whole or in part at any time during the period to be determined
and notified by the Directors to the grantee thereof at the time of making
an Offer provided that such period shall not exceed the period of 10 years
from the date of grant of the particular Option but subject to the provisions
for early termination but subject to early termination of the Share Option
Scheme (the “Option Period”).

There is no specific minimum period under the Share Option Scheme for
which an Option must be held or the performance target which must be
achieved before an Option can be exercised under the terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
become unconditional, after which no further Options will be issued, and
thereafter for so long as there are outstanding any unexercised Options
granted pursuant thereto and in order to give effect to the exercise of any
such Options or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE 0PT|ON SCHEME (continued)
10. The life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force until 29 August 2023,
subject to approval by shareholders to adopt the Share Option Scheme at
the AGM.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, no share options were granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the section headed “Share Option Scheme” as disclosed above, at
no time during the year ended 31 March 2016 was the Company and any of
its subsidiaries of the Company and its associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive or any of their spouse or
children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the shares or
debentures of the Company or its subsidiaries or had exercised any such right
during the year ended 31 March 2016.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2016 was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company
or any other body corporate.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Framework Agreements with Hon Hai

On 23 December 2015, the Company entered into the Framework Agreements
with Hon Hai. Notwithstanding that Hon Hai is not a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules, the Company voluntarily complies with the
reporting, announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
for the transactions contemplated under the Framework Agreements as if Hon
Hai is a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Framework Agreements consist of (1) the I.T. System Operation and
Maintenance Framework Agreement, (2) the Build-Own-Operate and I.T. Project
Framework Agreement, (3) the Procurement Framework Agreement and (4) the
Sales Framework Agreement. Pursuant to the Framework Agreements, the Group
agreed to (i) provide I.T. support and maintenances services to Hon Hai and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “Hon Hai Group”); (ii) provide Build-Own-Operate and
I.T. Project services to Hon Hai Group; (iii) purchase enterprise-level products
including but not limited to communication software, servers and related hardware
equipment from Hon Hai Group to be used primarily for the provision of various I.T.
services; and (iv) sell Ancillary I.T. Products to Hon Hai Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Pursuant to the I.T. System Operation and Maintenance Framework Agreement,
the Group agreed to provide |.T. services to Hon Hai Group to support its existing
I.T. infrastructure. The I.T. services include, among others, I.T. strategical planning,
[.T. management, I.T. deployment and transfer, I.T. maintenance, |.T. system
design and I.T. valued-added services.

Pursuant to the Build-Own-Operate and I.T. Project Framework Agreement,
The Group agreed to provide project-based system integration service to
Hon Hai Group, including but not limited to design and development of new
systems, provision of application programming recommendations, installation,
implementation, testing, auditing and integration of new systems within the
I.T. environments; maintenance and support services; and providing cultural
transitioning of workforces to new environments, including training of employees
and other end users. These projects will be customized according to customer
specifications and needs with reference to their business plan and development
which include, among others, smart factory, smart office, video conferencing,
cloud computing, enterprise application and mobile application.

Pursuant to the Procurement Framework Agreement, the Company (as buyer)
agreed to purchase enterprise-level products directly or via its subsidiaries
including but not limited to communication software, servers and related hardware
equipment from Hon Hai Group (as seller). The enterprise-level products, which are
manufactured or developed by Hon Hai Group and also available in the market, will
be used primarily by the Group for the provision of various I.T. services during the
term of the Procurement Framework Agreement.

Pursuant to the Sales Framework Agreement, the Company (as seller) agreed
to sell Ancillary I.T. Products directly or via its subsidiaries to Hon Hai Group (as
buyer) during the term of the Sales Framework Agreement. Leveraging on the
Group’s historical network and experience in the trading and manufacturing of
electronic parts and devices, the Group considers that it may from time to time be
approved or designated by Hon Hai Group to source the Ancillary I.T. Products in
response to their needs.

The annual caps of the above Framework Agreements for the financial years from
2016 — 2018 are as follows:

l.T. System Build-Own-

Operation and Operate and
Maintenance I.T. Project Procurement Sales

BR-#8

EARRE —BER
REERERE EARHIER BRig HE
HKD HKD HKD HKD
B BT JEIT BT
26,732,000 68,684,000 18,732,000 8,674,000
479,525,000 725,497,000 197,863,000 109,547,000
623,383,000 943,146,000 257,222,000 142,412,000
1,129,640,000 1,737,327,000 473,817,000 260,633,000
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

These Framework Agreements constituted continuing connection transactions
according to the Listing Rules and a special general meeting (“SGM”) was required
to have independent shareholders of the Company to approve. At the SGM held
on 29 February 2016, all the Framework Agreements were duly approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company and they are effective since then until
31 March 2018.

The Special Deal

On 29 April 2015, the Company entered into a disposal agreement (the “Disposal
Agreement”) with Champion Success Holdings Limited (“Champion Success”),
a company wholly owned by Mr. Lau Tak Wan (“Mr. Lau”), the then chairman
and executive Director of the Company. Pursuant to the Disposal Agreement,
the Company was willing to sell and Champion Success agreed to purchase
the business involving electronic components distribution in Hong Kong and the
PRC, central management of properties holding and personal computer products
distribution in Canada. The consideration of the said disposal was HK$95
million, subject to adjustment on a dollar-for dollar basis as the net asset value
of the group of subject companies as contained in the Disposal Agreement. The
transaction constituted a connected transaction according to the Listing Rules.
The transaction was approved by independent shareholders at the SGM on 19
October 2015. The gross proceeds were utilised for the payout of special dividend
and working capital.

The rental agreement with Daiwa Distribution (Ontario) Inc.

Daiwa Distribution (Ontario) Inc. (“Daiwa Distribution”), once a subsidiary of the
Company, had entered into a rental agreement in respect of office space in
Canada with a company jointly owned by Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky
for the period from 1 June 2014 to 31 May 2017. Monthly rental paid for the office
premises is CAD13,696 (approximately HK$83,300). The transaction concerned
constituted an exempted connected transaction under the Listing Rules. The
Directors at the time when the said agreement was entered were of the opinion
that it was on a normal commercial terms and on am arm'’s length basis and was
fair and reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, Daiwa Distribution was disposed of and
hence such transaction ceased to be a continuing connected transaction of the
Company upon the disposal.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as disclosed in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or non-exempted
continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.
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Name of Shareholder

Asia-lO Acquisition Fund, L.P.(#73£1)
Asia-IO Acquisition Fund, L.P. (Note 1)

Asia-10 Holdings Limited (#/z#2)
Asia-10 Holdings Limited (Note 2)

1. 383,608,2600% J% 17 fa Asia-10 Acquisition Fund, L.P.
(HiBA E A BAsia-l0 Acquisition GP Limited) & 25+
A - imAsia-10 Acquisition GP Limited & ¥ %4
P -

2. 43,439,139 %15 FAsia-10 Holdings Limited 25
A - Asia-10 Holdings Limited g i 353 55 A= 12 ©
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Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

AR 2 A 42

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2016, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following parties
(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company), had an interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company which are
required to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and
3 and Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the Group.

Interests in the shares of the Company

RO E BREMATDLHR
R AT EERERDL
RO E Approximate
Number or percentage or
attributable attributable
number of EZHE percentage of
Shares held Nature of interests shareholding
Emigm
383,608,260 Beneficial interests 57.93%
Emigm
43,439,139 Beneficial interests 6.56%
Notes:
1. 383,608,260 Shares were beneficially held by Asia-IO Acquisition Fund, L.P. whose

general partner is Asia-IO Acquisition GP Limited which, in turn, is controlled by Mr.
Tse Tik Yang, Denis.

2. 43,439,139 Shares were beneficially held by Asia-IO Holdings Limited which is
controlled by Mr. Tse Tik Yang, Denis.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other interest
representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company and recorded
in the register of Substantial Shareholders maintained under Section 336 of the
SFO as at 31 March 2016.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 11 to 22.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in accordance with the requirements of the
Code of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial reporting
process and internal controls.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Tang Tin Lok, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Kan Ji Ran,
Laurie and Mr. Chen Timothy.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2016.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2016, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold and redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders
by reason of their holding of the Shares. Intending holders and investors of the
Company’s shares are recommended to consult their professional advisers if they
are in any doubt as to the taxation implications (including tax relief) of subscribing
for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or dealing in shares. It is emphasised that
none of the Company or its Directors or officers will accept any responsibility for
any tax effect on, or liabilities of, holders of shares in the Company resulting from
their subscription for, purchase, holding, disposal of or dealing in such shares.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Hui Lap Shun John
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2016
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MAXNERVA TECHNOLOGY SERVICES
LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED)
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Maxnerva Technology
Services Limited (formerly known as Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited) (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries set out on pages 46 to 139, which comprise
the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2016, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

EEEMBRRBEAER QR 44
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016, and of
their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 June 2016
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Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

Hfat
Note

Continuing operations
Revenue &
Cost of sales

— Impairment of inventories and property,

plant and equipment
— Others
7

Gross (loss)/profit
Other income
Selling and distribution expenses 7
General and administrative expenses 7
Other losses, net 6
Operating (loss)/profit
Finance income 9
Finance costs 9
(Loss)/profit before income tax
Income tax (expense)/credit 10
(Loss)/profit for the year from

continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Loss for the year from discontinued operations 31
Loss for the year
Attributable to equity holders of

the Company arising from:

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations
(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit

attributable to equity holders of the

Company during the year
Basic and diluted 13

From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

CEOR

statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2016

—E—X —_F—H
2016 2015
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
(E31])

(Restated)

111,317 130,310
(34,110) (843)
(105,197) (105,603)
_______ (189,307) ______(106,446)
(27,990) 23,864
180 39
(5,816) (4,529)
(38,072) (15,234)
(308) (55)
(72,006) 4,085
43 183

(526) (788)
(72,489) 3,480
(319) 423
(72,808) 3,903
(24,791) (43,627)
(97,599) (89,724)
(72,808) 3,903
(24,791) (43,627)
(97,599) (839,724)
(13.70) 0.89
(4.66) (9.98)

The notes on pages 53 to 139 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
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statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2016

—E—K —F—h
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
(E51)
(Restated)
Comprehensive loss:
Loss for the year (97,599) (39,724)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of
subsidiaries 16,785 -
Currency translation differences (3,763) (9,041)
Fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets 390 143
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss
Revaluation gains on land and buildings, net of tax 736 17,163
Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax 14,148 8,265
Total comprehensive loss for the year (83,451) (31,459)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to
equity holders of the Company arising from:
Continuing operations (72,818) 27,542
Discontinued operations (10,633) (59,001)
(83,451) (81,459)
215 o The notes on pages 53 to 139 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
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Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Land use rights
Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred income tax assets
Other long-term assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and notes receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Hfat
Note

14
15
16
17
19
27
18

20
21
22

23

28
28
29

As at 31 March 2016

—E-—R —ZT—Hh
2016 2015
FET F#T

HK$’000 HK$’000
1,680 =
3,946 39,546

= 3,540
= 2,092
= 14,088
= 115
1,767 3,564
7,393 62,945

43,265 116,250
26,857 92,286
32,859 11,396

= 1,049

216,177 71,669

319,158 292,650

326,551 355,595
66,224 43,724

234,640 =

(41,439) 142,577

259,425 186,301

= 215

259,425 186,516
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R
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LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

BtaE
Note

27

24
25
26

As at 31 March 2016

—E—K —F—h
2016 2015
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
- 12,311

17,191 74,805
40,788 57,930
9,147 24,033
67,126 156,768
67,126 169,079
326,551 355,595

ZZ—/3F/%  The consolidated financial statements on pages 46 to 139 were approved by the

Board of Directors on 30 June 2016 and were signed on its behalf.

statements.

Hui Lap Shun, John

BAKER Sung Mahn, Sam

CEO

The notes on pages 53 to 139 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
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EfEREHR Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BE—_FT—NEF=ZA=+—HIFEE For the year ended 31 March 2016

R=Z—RAFNA—H

FEEE
FEEE

Hitira s/ (B18) -

HEFARIRELN
SEE

SN R

A ESREENTE
Yoz

T REFE G
BRA

Hitt4R S 4858

FeHEE

BEEFANRS :
BT (Hrat28)

HEFRR(Ha31)
W& S (Ff7E34)

R=ZF-—ARF=ZA=+—H

ME3AE139A 2 MFE A A G 15K 2 R akD -

AT EHEE AEMN
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
FEHEHIME
En
BEx  RORE Non- HE##%E
Share Share s #%8 controlling Total
capital premium Reserves Total interests equity
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
(Kfzt28)  (Kfat28)  (HiaF29)
(Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 29)
At 1 April 2015 43,724 - 142,577 186,301 215 186,516
Comprehensive loss:
Loss for the year - - (97,599) (97,599) - (97,599)
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Release of exchange reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries - - 16,785 16,785 - 16,785
Currency translation differences - - (8,763) (8,763) - (8,763)
Fair value gains on available-for-sale
financial assets - - 390 390 - 390
Revaluation gains on land and
buildings, net of tax - - 736 736 - 736
Total other comprehensive income - - 14,148 14,148 - 14,148
Total comprehensive loss - - (83,451) (83,451) - (83,451)
Transactions with owners:
Issuance of shares (Note 28) 22,500 234,640 - 257,140 - 257,140
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 31) - - - - (215) (215)
Dividends (Note 34) - - (100,565)  (100,565) - (100,565)
22,500 234,640 (100,565) 156,575 (215) 156,360
At 31 March 2016 66,224 234,640 (41,439) 259,425 - 259,425

statements.

EEEMBRRBEAER QR
Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

The notes on pages 53 to 139 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
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HEZFE-—NF=FA=+—HIFE

NEERTA AEL
Attributable to equity holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 March 2016

FE4E Il 1
e
R RhRE Non-  #Ez548%8
Share Share =] #%8  controlling Total
capital premium  Reserves Total interests equity
FAET FAET FAET FAET FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$S'000 HK$' 000
(Hia£28) (Bti#28) (HiaE29)
(Note 28)  (Note 28)  (Note 29)
R-E—NEWMA—H At 1 April 2014 43,724 233,196 (37,298) 239,622 215 239,837
mEEE Comprehensive loss:
FEEE Loss for the year - - (39,724)  (39,724) - (39,724)
Hipamauwzs /(558) : Other comprehensive
income/(loss):
INBEME =R Currency translation differences - - (9,041) (9,041) - (9,041)
At ESREE Fair value gains on available-for-sale
AT EY = financial assets = = 143 143 = 143
T RIEFE B Revaluation gains on land and
BRA buildings, net of tax - - 17,163 17,163 - 17,163
Hibim SR A EE Total other comprehensive income - - 8,265 8,265 = 8,265
mEHEE Total comprehensive loss - - (31,459)  (31,459) - (31,459)
HEBEANRKS : Transaction with owners:
BB % 17 5 (B (A7 7E28) Reduction of share premium
(Note 28) - (283,196) 233,196 - = =
RS (Ht2E34) Dividends (Note 34) - - (21,862 (21,862) - (21,862
~  (233,196) 211,334  (21,862) - (21,862
R=-Z—HAF=HA=+—H At31 March 2015 43,724 - 142,577 186,301 215 186,516
MRE3EE1398 Z T AA MU IS MR 2 BB IS - The notes on pages 53 to 139 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2016

—E-X —Z—h
2016 2015
Bt e FHET FAET
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
RETEZHERE Cash flows from operating activities
K& EETARS Cash used in operations 30(a) (55,754) (41,980)
ZAFAE Interest paid (1,246) (2,105)
U B FI) B, Interest received 670 1,321
B PTS R Income tax paid (319) 4,672)
REEBARZFRD Net cash used in operating activities (56,649) (47,436)
RETBHZ2HESRE Cash flows from investing activities
HETFRREELEZFHRERA Net cash inflow as a result of disposal of
subsidiaries 31 56,549 -
BEBEYE  HEERR Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3,651) (2,859)
FE B 4 h (3 P e Purchase of land use rights - (2,112)
HELHFERE  REWER Proceeds from disposal of land use rights,
M - HEs MR PT1SFIE investment properties and property,
plant and equipment 30(b) - 126,693
BEELEE Purchase of intangible assets (1,833) =
ENRE Y *E Addition to investment properties - (36)
KERELEZFHS Net cash generated from investing activities 51,065 121,686
RETB2HEESRE Cash flows from financing activities
i & $T AR (0 T 15 BB 558 Net proceeds from placing of shares 257,140 =
SRR ER AR B Dividends paid to shareholders (100,565) (21,862)
I IRITE New bank borrowings 147,956 170,288
ERRITER Repayment of bank borrowings (151,548) (203,701)
MEFHEL/(FTAZFRE Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities 152,983 (55,275)
Be BHeLSEYRBTERZ Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and
FEEE bank overdrafts 147,399 18,975
ROA—BZHRE BHeEEBYK Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts
RITEX at 1 April 68,979 52,002
HINESIE X ERNR® ReEBY Effect of foreign exchange rate change on cash
TERE and cash equivalents, net (201) (1,998)
R=ZA=+—RAZHR&  Hes Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts
BYRIRITES at 31 March 23 216,177 68,979

ME3EE139E Z Mk A a sk < R a0 -

The notes on pages 53 to 139 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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R—ANEFE_A=BRE-NAN—FERE
RElERAREFMRILAEREERAA] ©
H =il ACanon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda ° XA &%
MR—NANNFEA+THBERSHERI
BARARERLEM ©

R—ZZE—FF+A=-+AHA " BIBEXRLE
([Be4 D aEmmEgat([Riat])(BEAX
= - HFEIEARPILE ) FAsia-10 Acquisition Fund,
L.P.(TAsia-I0 ) HEREFR AR RN E R E &
BRHE - AR R BB EITIRASE5.17%  R{E
#)/5275,957,000/ 7¢ °

ER LM BEBLEERGNEBIEMS  ARRRN
“E—RF+AZ+TNHB  MWAsia- Ok BIM
%56 = 75 317225,000,000% & 3BA% © FriS5KIE
#4257,400,000% 7T © AN - ANEE R E B A$E
M Daiwa BVI Limited R EF AR ([HEEHE])
M100%BELE FREE2ERENEE
{8/4102,376,000/5 T ° DHEFIasFREA
BERERIHEEEDBIALEEEETE
ERALEEEMABEAFFELEEL - HE
FIE RIERHEC S EBRE S BENMES -

GENERAL INFORMATION

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited (formerly known as Daiwa
Associate Holdings Limited) (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries
the “Group”), is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda on 3
February 1994 as an exempted company under Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The shares of the Company have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
since 14 April 1994,

On 29 October 2015, Mr. Lau Tak Wan (“Mr. Lau”) and Ms. Chan Yuen
Mei, Pinky (“Ms. Chan”) (being spouse to each other and collectively, the
controlling shareholders) disposed of their entire beneficial equity interests
in the Company, representing 55.17% of the Company’s then issued share
capital to the Asia-1O Acquisition Fund, L.P. (“Asia-I0”) for a consideration
of approximately HK$275,957,000.

Inter-conditional to the disposal of shares described above, the Company
issued 225,000,000 ordinary shares to Asia-IO and two other third parties
for proceeds of HK$257,400,000 on 29 October 2015. In addition, the
Group disposed of its 100% equity interest in Daiwa BVI Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Disposal Group”) on the same date to an entity wholly
owned by Mr. Lau, at a consideration of HK$102,376,000. The operating
segments of Electronic Components Distribution and Personal Computer
Products Distribution were managed under the Disposal Group and had
been classified as discontinued operations as a result of the Disposal.
Further details of the Disposal and discontinued operations are set out in
Note 31.
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GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

During the year, the Group also commenced businesses of the provision of
system and network integration, information technology (“I.T.”). solutions
development and implementation, and related maintenance services.
These, together with the Group’s continuing operations in electronic
products manufacturing, represents the Group’s principal activities
subsequent to the Disposal.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, unless
otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale
financial assets, investment properties and land and buildings
classified as property, plant and equipment, which are carried at
fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies.



& G B 8% R I R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.

EESHEEME»)

2.1

mBEE(E)

(a)

BB BER 2 15T 2 &

NI EAEEZERBNIRE
EUZBATBER_T—HF
mMA—RARBR 2RSS
AR b ER

HEGRER FEBHFE

E195% EEMHRK
(EFTA)
FEHREEE T —TZF
—E——F
JER R
WE
FEHRBEEE T ——F
—E—=F
JER R
WE

Rz FEA 2 BT L ARE A
SEXRERPEMAERER

2/ 48
= °

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

Effect of adopting amendments to existing standards

The following amendments to existing standards are
relevant to the Group’s operations and mandatory for its
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2015:

HKAS 19 Defined benefit plans: employee
(Amendment) contribution

Annual Annual improvements 2010-2012
Improvements cycle
Project

Annual Annual improvements 2011-2013
Improvements cycle
Project

The adoption of these amendments to standards did not
have any significant impact on the results and financial
position of the Group.
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POLICIES (continued)
2.1 RBEE(E) 2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(b) 18 R 2E A T < B2 [ 0 SR 4R E AR (b) Standards and amendments to existing standards

M ERI R BB ER 2 55T that are not yet effective and have not been early

adopted by the Group

T%| 2 EMmEyER| - 35 A %8 The following published standards and amendments

ZIEFTERAEE T —RXF to existing standards are mandatory for the Group’s

A — B A A & s 2 o &l accounting periods beginning on 1 April 2016 and have not

1T BAREEWERETIRR : been early adopted by the Group:

BARCHEAFS EYEY HKAS 1 (Amendment) Disclosure initiative!

(BaT%)

EAGHEAEIGRR  RANEREN HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of acceptable methods of
e R Y)YV (Amendment) depreciation and amortisation'

(B3T7) !

ERETENSORR  BE: AER HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 Agriculture: bearer plants’
BASIENEAR i (Amendment)

(B31%)

BAGHERETS BERBRRR HKAS 27 (Amendment)  Equity method in separate financial
(BaT%) Emt statements'

BANEREEREI0 REBEEEE HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale and contribution of assets between an
RESLIENENE  ARNAELF (Amendment) investor and its associate or joint venture*
(B3T7) LEREELE

HER

BRUBREEAE0R . RER HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and  Investment entities: applying the
B RE LR TANEZ HKAS 28 (Amendment)  consolidation exception'
F1RRERGE  IMER
F08% (5T A)

BRI RS WENALEK HKFRS 11 (Amendment)  Accounting for acquisition of interests in joint
E115(B3TA) LR operation’

it

AAMBREEAFSR @I HKFRS 9 Financial instruments?

EEUBRELNELS EEETRF HKFRS 14 Regulatory deferral accounts'

EEMBREEAE ST  BRPANZMA HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers?

BEUBRSENE 6 S HKFRS 16 Leases?

FENERA —F--3% Annual Improvements Annual improvements 2012-2014 cycle'

—E-MERE Project
LEEHE
g RZT—R"F—-—A—H3 0 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
Z &R 2 FEEIRE AR January 2016
2 R-_ZE—NF—HA—HB=% 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
21 BRI BRI A K January 2018
@ RZT-—NAF—-—A—H3 @ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
Z &R 2 FEEIRE AR January 2019

4 HEBE < A date to be determined

EIEE N E R EIE Management is in the process of making an assessment

BIRIBEERZEITZZE of the impact of these new standards and amendments

ME B B 4 R REHE T 3% & T B to existing standards and is not yet in a position to state

RIEBEAZEFTTRT @ H K whether they will have a significant impact on the Group’s

SEZEERMBRRAEKER results and financial position.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

(d)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and
Audit” of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622) come into operation during the year, as a result, there
are changes to presentation and disclosures of certain
information in the consolidated financial statements.

As a result of the discontinued operations mentioned in
Note 1 and Note 5 during the year, comparative figures
of the consolidated income statement and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in prior year have
been restated to conform to the presentation of the current
year. These restatements have no impact on the Group’s
total equity as at 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2014, or on
the Group’s result for the year ended 31 March 2015.

2.2 Subsidiaries

(a)

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Consolidation (continued)

(i)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. |dentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
fair value of non-controlling interest over the net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If this consideration is lower than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the
difference is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Consolidation (continued)

(ir)

(i)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.2

2.3

2.4

Subsidiaries (continued)

(b) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment, if any. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors that make
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”).
Hong Kong dollars is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented
in the income statement within ‘finance income’ or ‘finance
costs’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the income statement within “other losses,
net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets,
such as equities classified as available-for-sale, are
included in other comprehensive income. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gains or
losses.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.4

2.5

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies (continued)

(if) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(ifi) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising land and buildings,
is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or
both, and that is not occupied by the Group. It also includes
properties that are being constructed or developed for future
use as investment properties. Land held under operating leases
are accounted for as investment properties when the rest of the
definition of an investment property is met. In such cases, the
operating leases concerned are accounted for as if they were
finance leases. Investment property is initially measured at cost,
including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing
costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are carried
at fair value, representing open market value determined at each
reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is based on active
market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If the information
is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such
as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow
projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the income
statement as part of a valuation gain or loss in ‘fair value gains/
losses on investment properties’.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Land use rights

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost mainly represents
consideration paid for the rights to use the land on which various
plant and buildings are situated for a prescribed period from the
date the respective rights were granted. Amortisation of land
use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis over the period of
leases.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of
good or services, or for administrative purposes are stated at their
revalued amount, being the fair value on the basis of their existing
use at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which
would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting
period.

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of land and
buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited
to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged.
A decrease in net carrying amount arising on revaluation of an
asset is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds
the balance, if any, on the revaluation reserve relating to a previous
revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a
revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to
retained profits/(accumulated losses).

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Land classified as finance lease commences amortisation from
the time when the land interest becomes available for its intended
use. Amortisation of leasehold land classified as finance lease
and depreciation of other assets are calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their cost to their residual values, where
applicable, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Over the lease terms

50 years

Straight line 6 to 7 years
Straight line 5 to 10 years

Land classified as finance lease

Buildings

Plant and machinery

Leasehold improvements, furniture,
fixtures and equipment

Motor vehicles

Moulds and tooling

Straight line 5 years
Straight line 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction or pending installation and is stated
at cost. Cost includes the costs of construction of buildings, the
costs of plant and machinery, installation, testing and other direct
costs. No depreciation is made on construction-in-progress until
such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for
intended use. When the assets concerned are brought into use,
the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
‘other losses, net’ in the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POL'C'ES (continued)
2.8 Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill

(b)

(c)

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
represents the excess of the consideration transferred over
the Group’s interest in net fair value of the net identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment
level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of
goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Club debenture

Club debenture represents golf club membership and is
stated at cost less impairment, if any.

Acquired computer software

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are incurred to acquire and bring
to use the specific software, and are amortised using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 3
years.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example, goodwill, are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following
categories: loans and receivables and available-for-sale.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired. Management determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are
included in current assets, except for the amounts
that are settled or expected to be settled more
than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period. These are classified as non-current assets.
The Group’s loans and receivables comprise
“trade and notes receivables”, “deposits and other
receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” in
the balance sheet (Notes 2.14 and 2.15).
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.10 Financial assets (continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification (continued)

(i) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current assets
unless the investment matures or management
intends to dispose of it within 12 months at the end
of the reporting period.

Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments
are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs
for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-
for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair
value. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.10

Financial assets (continued)

(b)

Recognition and measurement (continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold
or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustment
recognised in equity is included in the income statement as
“other losses, net”.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using
the effective interest method is recognised in the income
statement as part of other income. Dividends on available-
for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income
statement as part of other income when the Group’s right
to receive payments is established.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.12 Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment
losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the
debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where
observable data indicate that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
income statement. If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is
the current effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using
an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.12

2.13

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(b)

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired.

For debt securities, if any such evidence exists, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period,
the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-
for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed
through the income statement.

For equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its cost is also
evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such evidence
exists, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised
in the income statement on equity instruments are not
reversed through the income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Cost is determined by using the weighted average method.

The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw

materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production

overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes

borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price

in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling

expenses.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.14

2.15

2.16

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for products
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
cash in hand and deposits held at call with banks.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables, other payables and accruals are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables, other payables and accruals are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.18

2.19

2.20

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
reporting period in the countries where the Group operates
and generates taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, except for deferred tax liability where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and there
is sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is legally enforceable rights to offset current income
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when
the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balance on a net basis.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.21 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations

The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans which are available to all relevant
employees. These plans are generally funded through
payments to schemes established by government or
trustee-administered funds. A defined contribution plan is a
pension plan under which the Group pays contributions on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefit relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods.

All contributions to pension plans are fully and immediately
vested and the Group had no unvested benefits available
to reduce its future contributions.

Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees
and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.
Liabilities of bonus plan are expected to be settled within
twelve months and are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2,22

2.23

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense
within “finance costs” in the income statement.

Leases (as the lessee)

(a) Finance leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment that substantially
transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of ownership
of assets are classified as finance leases. Finance leases
are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of
the fair value of the leased assets and the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment
is allocated between the liability and finance charges
SO as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance
outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in current and non-current
liabilities, where appropriate. The interest element of the
finance cost is charged to the income statement over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.



& G B 8% R I R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. EESTHEREEs

2.23

2.24

HEEREBAN) (&)
(b) ABEHEY

NEEEREEZBRAD ER
LB EHEARME 28
- BIHEREHEN - REK
SEMEL 2 RN HER
AT 2 ERES)EHBAN
BAEBNERPHI

WATER

WAZIHE B m R RS B Yk B R B
ZAFERERREMHERELKED 2
R o WAEMRIEHH - REMEE
BILFIRR » A B AT S5t & Yeas
RIRAEEE - BAIBEA RREE M m
ARBIARAEBIATBEZBT AR
E R ERRE R A - REBERE
BEFBELHMGEF  UREEZFPHR
Al RPBRIREARE B ERR -

(a) HEHmR

EEENEFRRATEE RN
Em BPEXERRERE
R AE B e U IR BE  m 7%
$HE S 2 W BB AR -

(b) FIE A

.5, N A 7 30 o B

2|
e ©

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.23

2.24

L (as the | ) (continued)

(b) Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the lease periods.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods
supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below. The
Group bases its estimates of return on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a group entity
has delivered products to the customer, the customer
has accepted the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products and collectivity of the related receivables is
reasonably assured.

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POL'C'ES (continued)

2.24

2.25

2.26

Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(d) Sales of services

For sales of services, revenue is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered, by
reference to stage of completion of the specific transaction

and assessed on the basis of actual services provided as a
proportion of the total services to be provided.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents a
separate major line of business or geographic area of operations,
or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate
major line of business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is
presented in the income statement, which comprises the post-tax
profit or loss of the discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or
loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell,
or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group constituting the
discontinued operation.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and
fair value interest-rate risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group.
The use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk
exposures is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company. The Group would occasionally
enter into certain forward foreign exchange contracts to manage
its exchange risks. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes.

(a) Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and
Mainland China with most of the transactions
settled in HK$, New Taiwanese dollars (“NTD”)
and Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions
or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated
in a currency that is not the entity’s functional
currency. The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk from various currencies, primarily
with respect to and NTD and RMB.

Management has a policy to require group
companies to manage their foreign exchange
risk against their functional currencies. It mainly
includes managing the exposures arising from
sales and purchases made by the relevant group
companies in currencies other than their own
functional currencies. The Group also manages
its foreign exchange risk by performing regular
reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange
exposures and would consider the use of foreign
exchange contracts to manage its foreign
exchange risks, where appropriate. As at 31 March
2016, the Group did not have any outstanding
foreign exchange contracts.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2016, certain of the Group’s
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and trade
payables were denominated in foreign currencies,
details of which have been disclosed in the
respective notes to these consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 March 2016, if the HK$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against the NTD and RMB,
with all other variables held constant, post-tax
loss for the year would have been approximately
HK$108,000 higher/lower (2015: HK$1,370,000
lower/higher), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of financial
assets and liabilities denominated in NTD and
RMB.

Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the cash at
banks, details of which are disclosed in Note 23.
The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates
is mainly attributable to its bank borrowings, details
of which are disclosed in Note 24. Borrowings
carried at floating rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. The Group has not used
any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2016, if the interest rates on
borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower,
with all other variables held constant, post-tax loss
for the year would have been HK$72,000 higher/
lower (2015: HK$127,000 higher/lower), mainly as
a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating
rate borrowings.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash at banks, trade and notes
receivables, deposits and other receivables included in
the consolidated balance sheet represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

The majority of the Group’s cash at banks are deposited in
major financial institutions located in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and Taiwan, which management believes are of high
credit quality. Management does not expect any losses
arising from non-performance by these counterparties.

Credit risk includes risks of concentration and counterparty
default. As at 31 March 2016, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as its top 5 trade debtors accounted for 43%
(2015: 15%) of trade and notes receivables. The Group
also has policies in place to ensure that sale of products
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history
and the Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its
customers. Normally the Group does not require collaterals
from trade debtors.

Management makes periodic collective assessment as well
as individual assessment on the recoverability of trade and
other receivables based on historical payment records,
the length of the overdue period, the financial strength of
the trade and other debtors, the relevant credit insurance
coverage and whether there are any disputes with the
relevant debtors. The Group’s historical experience in
collection of trade and other receivables falls within the
recorded allowances and directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible receivables has been
made in these financial statements.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and cash equivalents and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been
for additions of and upgrades on property, plant and
equipment, settlement of borrowings, payment for trade
and other payables and payment for operating expenses.
The Group mainly finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of internal resources and bank
borrowings, as necessary.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and adequate
amount of committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

Taking into account the repayment on demand clauses on
bank borrowings, all of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at 31 March 2016 were due for settlement contractually
within 12 months, with their contractual undiscounted cash
flows approximated their respective carrying amounts.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows, including interest
payments computed using contractual rates, based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. For the purpose of maturity analysis, the maturity
date of term loans with a repayment on demand clause is
based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan
agreement.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

At 31 March 2016
Borrowings

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

At 31 March 2015
Borrowings

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

Liquidity risk (continued)

-EEME  WERRE
—£R Between Between RENE
Within 1and 2 2and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years
FE7 FETT TATT THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

17,942 - - -
40,788 - - -
7,323 - - -

65,688 755 11,496 =
57,930 = = =
17,990 = = =

3.2 Fair value estimation

As at 31 March 2016, the Group does not have any financial assets
or financial liabilities carried at fair value. As at 31 March 2015, all
the resulting fair value estimates on the available-for-sale financial
assets, land and buildings and investment properties are made
according to the fair value measurement hierarchy under HKFRS 7.

The different levels of fair value measurements are defined as

follows:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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3. MBEBREE# 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 AFEMGTH(E) 3.2 Fair value estimation (continued)
TRETASEAHEESREE + The following table shows fair value measurement hierarchy to
W RYERIEEYER—_TE—RE=1 which the Group’s available-for-sale financial assets, land and
=+—HHAFEZFEER : buildings and investment properties are measured at fair value
belong as at 31 March 2015:
—E—Hh
2015
FHEIT
HK$’000
Ba&— Level 1
B EmEE A HEHESREE Equity listed securities classified as
available-for-sale financial assets 451
BR= Level 3
TEEEERBRAS DA AR Key management insurance contract classified
HESREE as available-for-sale financial assets 13,637
T RIEF Land and buildings 26,630
KEYE Investment properties 3,540
43,807
ZEEENBERBEAER QR 84
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3.

MEERER e 3.

3.2 AFEMHEH(E) 3.2

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

THRIIE TRE-B—AF=A=+—
LRy BR=TAMSE

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for
the year ended 31 March 2016.

TEEEE
REEHDE
RUMtHE
LREE
Key
management
insurance
contract
classified as
THEETF REM=
sale financial Landand  Investment FH
assets buildings  properties Total
TEn Tir TiEn FiEn
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000

available-for-

R-E-1%MA-A At 1 April 2015 13,637 26,630 3,540 43,807

REMLGE KERERZ Fair value gains recognised in other

ATERE comprehensive income 359 - - 359
HEFAH Disposal of subsidiaries (13,996) (26,630) (3,540) (44,166)
RZB-REZA=1-H At 31 March 2016 = - - -

FEEEMSEENME TANQFER
BEERNTSRESINR - ERE
BINERRBZRSM X558 &
£ ERAL  EERBEREERRE
RS MZEREARBIFRZEE
ETHERNERT SR ZE - Zm%
R RER - AEBEFENUBEER

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for

MEHRERERERE HETABRE
REHR— -

REEERMSEZHNP BT A (HIN
HAMTAE T R) B RA FEFR A& E R
BT HERNRENATERMSH
& BESKBEBNFEME - 1
AR —UETANAFEMENEE
RNE A BRI SRR - AIZMB I A
ABR= -

financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to estimate the fair value of an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

Further details of available-for-sale financial assets classified within
the level 3 fair value hierarchy are set out in Note 19.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial assets,
including cash and cash equivalents, trade and notes receivables,
deposits and other receivables, and the Group’s current financial
liabilities including trade payables, accruals and other payables,
and borrowings, approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payments to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or obtain new bank borrowings.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-current
borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash
and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity”, as
shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net debt.
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EREN BREEMBATHERGEZR
REMIEA -

REBER RN AR MR - AEBEHARK
EHRAE IS Z @5t At P —EHEENEEE
AR - LT AA 8 E R B E 2R

FREEEERFBE -

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Capital risk management (continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s capital structure as at 31
March 2016 and 2015:

—E—K —F—h

2016 2015

FHETT FET

HK$°000 HK$’000

Total borrowings (Note 24) 17,191 74,805
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 23) (216,177) (71,669)
Net debt (198,986) 3,136
Total equity 259,425 186,516
Total capital 60,439 189,652
Gearing ratio N/ATE A 2%

As at 31 March 2016, total banking facilities available to the Group amount
to approximately HK$45,500,000 (2015: HK$163,238,000), of which
approximately HK$17,191,000 (2015: HK$74,805,000) has been utilised
by the Group.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.
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4, EEEHEFTRER®

(a)

(b)

(c)

FEREEREN

BEEHBRARBENE DR SEBEREE
FA BRI DR - NREBEBMFSBE
ERREYE KELREUARETLEE
HR(E - BEESARE—RAFELS
BfasthB&  BREEEEREELER
BEEEFHNRERE  BELENES
REBHNAERFY  FHSBERZEE
MFISREENE) - Bit - StERES
BABTAREEER  FHSBENRE
ARREAENEE - ARERBBEL
BEANREBAISHABERSRE M
it e REEAKRESRHE  AEEERR
BEFRXFRNRERE - ABHS
WEMEZGEGIER) - BRYE
25 R R ERER EFHEE IR EE
15°

FERSRFE

FEAERFEEREXRGHHEEN
BribarHER X - ARG RIERTH
SRBE HEROE R 2 BRI IED ©
HEGATREERR AR RS FE
TEBRGRFHREE T HREXR
e  FEERNSEEASMIELSE
R

Frig %t

REBERBNZEREER 2 PISH
EREERRAER BB - AEEA
EHERHE - 2R 5 Rt E RS
REIAE L AEEE - ANEBIAEET
REEE B EHR BRI GIARER AL
MBEAFFEZAE - WRFFEZR
R{BREREVNARZEBAIR - &
ZEGHEHEE M 22 8 RRLEM
BHEERBBELTE -
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPT'ONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets including property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Determining whether impairment
has occurred typically requires various estimates and assumptions,
including determining which cash flows are directly related to the
potentially impaired asset, the useful life over which cash flows
will occur, their amount, and the asset’s residual value, if any. In
turn, measurement of an impairment loss requires a determination
of recoverable amount, which is based on the best information
available. The Group derives the required cash flow estimates from
historical experience and internal business plans. To determine
recoverable amount, the Group uses cash flow estimates
discounted at an appropriate discount rate, quoted market prices
when available and independent appraisals, as appropriate. Details
of impairment assessment performed in relation to property, plant
and equipment are set out in Note 15.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste
and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycle.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences would impact the
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period
in which such determination is made.
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WA R D EHER

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

—E—K —ZE—F
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
SESEER Continuing operations
EEHE Turnover
HEEm Sales of goods 107,929 130,310
IR Rendering of services 3,388 =
111,317 130,310
2 BER Segment information
RAFEE AR T—AF+AZ+LB#T During the year, the operating segments of Electronic Components

HEZR  BEEF T RRHEAASKE
mEED MO BRIFELLEET - AL
M%%RAZKEI SEAMTNE  AmMMERZ
W aPAEMK © "*B&ERth?%(%i‘“EEW'
UREARFREZE2H I REAXRRE%
BE  BMPERBRDRFEELRNITRABE
ERBEBNAFERES -

BEERRARATESF(RBR[ZELE
RE /\J) REEHREEIERE - TREER
RANBBEHAARTLEFRARMABPHRE A
AHARARRTRUDEAENER - EHE
TMRIEZEME LD BIEHHE

TEEERARANE EME REmIIRISIER
AEEZEXY URRAEEEMALED
2 B EFEMRE | R ERMEES RER
TERRE | - RERAFEIEL T -

AEEREESBEIRREIEEEEL - A
MEMHNREAEERE - T2LERRARE

2RI ZBRATEBANER, (BB EERTHE
REDHRE - RHTEIREERRANE
MERTIARS B RER - BN E -

EBRDHMNEETRES —EENRETEMEH
BE AHEESRMEERARNEE(ZER
BEMARNDERRERARNRE MRS
EEY) - 2|/ M BBE T RIEENH FRE R
SHAE RANEEREMBARNEE - Z
SEENREREERBERANHIRND -

Distribution and Personal Computer Products Distribution were classified as
discontinued operations as a result of the Disposal taken place on 29 October
2015. The discontinued operations have resulted in a change in the Group’s
structure and therefore its composition of reporting segment. The comparative
figures of segment disclosure has been restated to conform to current year’s
presentation. In addition, the businesses of provision of system and network
integration, |.T. solutions development and implementation, and related
maintenance services commenced during the year.

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive
directors (collectively referred to as the “Chief Operating Decision Maker”
or “CODM?”) that make strategic decisions. The CODM reviews the
internal reporting of the Company and its subsidiaries in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. Management has determined the
operating segments based on these reports.

The CODM considers the business from the perspective of the nature of
operations and the type of products or services, and considers that the
Group mainly has two operating segments, namely “Electronic Products
Manufacturing” and “I.T. Integration and Solutions Services”, the latter is
related to the new businesses which commenced during the year.

Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic business unit
that is managed by the respective business unit leaders. CODM assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on a measure of profit/(loss)
before income tax. Other information provided to the CODM is measured in a
manner consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.

Assets of reportable segments exclude deferred income tax assets,
available-for-sale financial assets and corporate assets (mainly including
certain corporate properties and equipment and corporate cash and cash
equivalents), all of which are managed on a central basis. Liabilities of
reportable segments exclude current and deferred income tax liabilities,
corporate borrowings and other corporate liabilities. These are part of the
reconciliation to total balance sheet assets and liabilities.
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5. WARDHER =)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
DEER(E) Segment information (continued)
BE-_Z—~"F=A=1+—-HLEFE
Year ended 31 March 2016
ETER EAREES
HiE  RERFRRHE
Electronic  L.T. Integration
Products and Solutions |
Manufacturing Services Total
FET FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
=] Turnover
HEEm Sales of goods 94,127 13,802 107,929
TR AR TS Rendering of services - 3,388 3,388
94,127 17,190 111,317
EHP Wz EE Results of reportable segments (53,418) (629) (54,047)
ERD B FERAFEEHE A reconciliation of results of reportable segments

HEEBRIT to loss for the year is as follows:

ERS P2 EE Results of reportable segments (54,047)
AOBERZ (Hita) Unallocated expenses (Note a) (17,959)
KEEE Operating loss (72,006)
MERAKN—F5E Finance costs - net (483)
BB Loss before income tax (72,489)
FEyil=ha Income tax expense (319)
rEEEE Loss for the year (72,808)
Hihp &R Other segment information:

BN Capital expenditures 2,241 1,198 3,439
V% - MR RRIETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,983 173 3,156
A Amortisation of intangible assets - 153 153
WE - WERZERE Impairment of property,

(Kiat15) plant and equipment (Note 15) 7,844 = 7,844
FEREREHF20) Provision for impairment of inventories (Note 20) 26,266 - 26,266
Mt - Note:

(@) AOEAXFERERCEEEELNT (@) Unallocated expenses mainly include salaries, legal and professional fees

& EAREEEMRAMEERX

EEEMBRRBEAER QR
Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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5.

WARDEER =) 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
PEER(E) Segment information (continued)

—EBE-XRE=R=+-—H
As at 31 March 2016

ETER ERBREAK

E BRERRE

Electronic L.T. Integration

Products  and Solutions HE
Manufacturing Services Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

PEEE Segment assets

DEPEE Segment assets 74,288 173,627 247,915

Hih R B EE (Hiata) Other unallocated assets (Note a) 78,636

AHEEABRNEELE Total assets per consolidated balance sheet 326,551

AIBEE Segment liabilities

NEaE Segment liabilities 28,801 35,883 64,684

HibRHE & E(Hatb) Other unallocated liabilities (Note b) 2442

AHEEEBERNEELEE Total liabilities per consolidated balance sheet 67,126

HaE - Notes:

() REZZE—AR"F=ZA=1+—08  HthRkDEE (@) As at 31 March 2016, other unallocated assets mainly included furniture,
EFXrEZaRAREAZERL KB RREM fixtures and equipment and cash and cash equivalents for corporate usage.
HekBEEEEY -

(b) RZZE—RF=ZA=+—H  HiXkHRE (b) As at 31 March 2016, other unallocated liabilities mainly included accruals
BEZRERRAMX 2 BT8R REMERN and other payables for corporate expenses.

g
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SEWER(E)

DEMEE

HEEM
2HRDE 2 K&

RN EZ KEBAREZHEH

RERF
BEKA—FE

BR AT 15 B BT E
NEHRER

AEEFE

Hitt o BEH
BARMX

MmE - BBERRBINE
FEREREAEE20)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment information (continued)

BE-Z-HF=A=1+—HLEFE

(E5)
Year ended 31 March 2015
(Restated)
EFERRE
Electronic
Products Knle e
Manufacturing Unallocated Total
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Turnover
Sales of goods 130,310 - 130,310
Results of reportable segment 3,939 = 3,939
A reconciliation of results of reportable segment to
profit for the year is as follows:
Results of reportable segment 3,939
Unallocated income 163
Unallocated expenses (17)
Operating profit 4,085
Finance costs — net (605
Profit before income tax 3,480
Income tax credit 423
Profit for the year 3,903
Other segment information:
Capital expenditures 842 153 995
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,643 - 4,643
Provision for impairment of inventories (Note 20) 843 - 843
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5.

WARDEER 2

DEER(E)

DHREE
DEPEE

EIEFTIS BB
AN ESRERE
ﬁ%#ﬁ%@%%%%ﬁé&
Hib RDBLEE (Hfata)

AN EERBERNEEAR

SBWEE
DEEE

EEFSHERE
ERFRERLEEBNEER
Hib RO BB E (M EED)

ANREABRNABEE
Wit -
@  R=F-EESA=ioA AMFOERR

EXZeERRAEABNLIRET -
MEAZASRREEEY - ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁb‘%&#ﬂ
AREFEZHAXEREEDHEEAN - 67
FFBREEBNEET EBRERNTEUR
AREE -

R-ZE—RE=A=1+—0 HMKXKHEE
BEEEOEALNEE - BHFBELEE
BHEBRIEREABREREREMEEE
18 o

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment information (continued)

—hF=A=+—8H
(&31])
As at 31 March 2015
(Restated)
BEFEM
B
Electronic
Products 1aEE
Manufacturing Total
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Segment assets
Segment assets 96,253 96,253
Deferred income tax assets 115
Available-for-sale financial assets 14,088
Assets related to discontinued operations and
other unallocated assets (Note a) 245,139
Total assets per consolidated balance sheet 355,595
Segment liabilities
Segment liabilities 43,957 43,957
Deferred income tax liabilities 12,311
Liabilities related to discontinued operations and
other unallocated liabilities (Note b) 112,811
Total liabilities per consolidated balance sheet 169,079

Notes:

As at 31 March 2015, other unallocated assets mainly included land and
buildings in respect of office premises, and cash and cash equivalents
for corporate usage. Depreciation charge in respect of factory and office
premises is included in the related segment results. Assets related to
discontinued operations mainly included outstanding receivables and
inventories.

As at 31 March 2015, other unallocated liabilities mainly included corporate
borrowings. Liabilities related to discontinued operations mainly included
outstanding borrowings and trade payables.
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5. WARDHBER ) 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
PEER(E) Segment information (continued)
BRPAEHEMNINIEERES AT ¢ Revenue from external customers on the basis of customers’ locations is

analysed as follows:

HNERE P W
Revenue from external
customers
—E-—R —T—h
2016 2015
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&Z%))
(Restated)
a5 Hong Kong 235 305
AR A Mainland China 40,799 52,196
SIE=S) North America 2,789 3,362
BOM Europe 57,712 69,231
H i Z0 M B =R Other Asian countries 9,782 5,216
111,317 130,310
#7 55,851,000 8 T W A (=T — R & : Revenue of approximately HK$55,851,000 (2015: HK$68,331,000),
68,331,000/8 ) RE —RE—IIBEF - 14 representing 50.2% (2015: 52.4%) of the Group’s total revenue, is derived
AEBHBUAL0.2%(ZF—HF : 52.4%) ° from a single external customer. For the year ended 31 March 2016,
HEZT-—R"F=A=T—"HLFE  HAXE sales to the five largest customers of the Group in total accounted for
ERAARFZHEBEAGAEERKAZLY approximately 68.7% (2015: 61.3%) of the Group’s total revenue.
68.7%(=ZF—FF : 61.3%) °
HE-ZT—RAF=-A=1+—HLEFE FFK During the year ended 31 March 2015, capital expenditure incurred in
HEE(EFZERFEAMENER)EEER Hong Kong and other locations (mainly in Mainland China and Canada)
25 5l %7153,0007 7T % 842,000/ 7T - HE amounted to approximately HK$153,000 and HK$842,000, respectively.
—E—XEZA=ZF+—HLEE  FIEELH During the year ended 31 March 2016, all capital expenditure were
S TR E R B A o incurred in Mainland China.
RZTE—RAF=A=+—0  BHEKHEMI At 31 March 2015, non-current assets other than other long-term
B(EZERFREABRIMNEKR) 2 E & assets and deferred income tax assets (there are no employment benefit
BEMIINZERBDEERELEMEHEE (M assets) located in Hong Kong and other locations (mainly in Mainland
=8 B 18 7 & E ) » 5 #25,339,000 7% T & China and Canada) amounted to approximately HK$25,339,000 and
19,839,000 7T - RZZE—NE=ZA=+— HK$19,839,000, respectively. As at 31 March 2016, all these assets were
B FIEZEEEHLRFEAM o located in Mainland China.
ZEEENBERBEAER QR 94
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AmTEEHEE
R E R A
1% SR Bl <
— BIZIRTS
— IEBIZIRE R
— IEEIZ RIS
(K E14)
e
Y% - BB R EERE
GFEREEE
BTRABAX(BEEEMHE)
(H1z£8)
EERBEER
T RYELERNES
BEIRAZMAL
BT
BEmY
#iE MIREFRX
HibR X

ERRIR
$HERA
$HE RAEHF X
—RRATEF X

6. OTHER LOSSES, NET

Net exchange losses

7. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Changes in inventories of finished goods and
work-in-progress
Trading merchandise sold
Raw materials and consumables used
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit assurance services
— Non-audit services
Amortisation (Note 14)
Depreciation
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Provision for impairment of inventories
Employment benefit expenses
(including directors’ emoluments) (Note 8)
Legal and professional fees

Operating lease rental in respect of land and buildings

Travelling and office expenses
Transportation expenses
Advertising expenses

Repairs and maintenance expenses
Other expenses

Representing:
Cost of sales
Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses

—E-RN —Z=—h
2016 2015
FHETT FHT
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&%)

(Restated)

308 58]
—E-R —Z—h
2016 2015
T FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&%)

(Restated)

1,890 (2,172)
11,401 -
71,645 77,835
1,900 1,992
1,700 =
111 37

153 =
3,156 4,643
7,844 -
26,266 843
35,566 33,584
7,400 382
3,271 997
4,125 2,873
2,681 2,637
165 13
1,983 1,459
1,938 1,186
183,195 126,209
139,307 106,446
5,816 4,529
38,072 15,234
183,195 126,209
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8. BIRMMx 8.
BEEEME 2 ATENBEMT :

B - T& NORBh

TEAL Bonuses

BRAEKA — ERERE
faHF s

FERF B A TS/ 8 T 48 752 17,368,000/
JE(—Z—F 4 : 33,145,000 7T ) B 5t A JE#
BB 2 B R (RS Fr#E) -

EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES

Employment benefit expenses, including directors’ emoluments, consist
of:

—E2—X —F—H

2016 2015

FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

(&E51)

(Restated)

Wages, salaries and allowances 30,541 27,723
714 1,507

Pension costs — defined contribution plans 3,253 2,316
Welfare, benefits and others 1,058 2,038
35,566 33,584

Employee benefit expenses relating to discontinued operations of
HK$17,368,000 (2015: HK$33,145,000) were included as part of the
expenses of discontinued operations set out in Note 31.

9. ®WMERAK — FH 9. FINANCE COSTS - NET
=R —%¥—Ah
2016 2015
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&Z51)
(Restated)
RITERF WA Interest income from bank deposits 43 183
RITERZFEFAZ Interest expense on bank loans | (526) | (788)
BEKA — %R Finance costs — net (483) (605)

4B 40 EE 5 HY Bl B AN VR 58 /5 92,00078 7T
(ZZ—H%F : 179,000/&7T) °

EEEMBRRBEAER QR 96
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Net finance costs relating to discontinued operations amounted to
HK$92,000 (2015: HK$179,000).



& G B 8% R I R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10.

FMEBRAX(ER)

ARREEREAREMRE - BBFFEHR IR
BEESEMA LN TFRAREESEERIRE
BB Z TR MIZ16.5% (= —RHF :
16.5%) Z T RIZHEE - RBEE_T—FXK
—Z—RF=ZA=+t—HLEFE(WER) ' ¥
BN EERY REBEZ AR EHTHREE
FriSfiii = 5 Bl £25%HM17% °

EHIA
— BAEMNEH
— REREEAEHR

B FE S

AEEBGTA(EE), DR 2 FIEH - R
RBARGA TR (BR), (88 2 nEFH
BiERMatE 2 Embi s R T

Bl (E51R), s Al

ZEAR AR R AR (B1R), S8 flz
B RAE TR

BARBZ WA

TR Z

I ERERRIENS R EEZRBERK
HAE Ry = R

A B R BE R B 75 5 18 2 B 1

AR SR [E R ST

FRSBiRIs (%)

MEFHEABRERIBI%(ZF—HF :
17.6%) - BERDEARAEENE FERR 2 F
NEZ BB PR

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda. Hong Kong profits
tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong. Group
companies established and operating in Mainland China and Taiwan are
subject to corporate income tax at the rate of 256% and 17%, respectively,
for years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015, where applicable.

=EB-RX —=—h
2016 2015
FHETT FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
Current taxation
— Hong Kong profits tax - 56
— PRC corporate income tax 319 431
Over-provision in prior years - (910)
319 (423)

The taxation on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to (losses)/profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

—E—X —ZE—h

2016 2015

FHET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

(E31)

(Restated)

(Loss)/profit before income tax (72,489) 3,480

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable

to (losses)/profits in the respective jurisdiction (13,702) 611

Income not subject to tax (1) (80)

Expenses not deductible 3,940 10
Tax losses and other temporary differences for which

no deferred income tax assets were recognised 10,082 137

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses - (241)

Over-provision in prior years - (910)

Income tax expense/(credit) 319 (423)

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 18.9% (2015: 17.6%).
The increase is caused by a change in the profitability of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the respective jurisdiction.
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11. ESAEZREZ(RKB(EBQ
TEF ) (E622F ) £3831F -
(RRI(BHBESNZER)E
AI)(5$622GE ) REB LHH
Al EER)

(a) ESRTRARME

REBEE_T-R"F=A=+—HLLF
B ARBBEZZMET

3.2 Name of Director

Executive directors
Mr LAU Tak Wan (Note vii)
Ms CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Note iv)
Mr CHEUNG Wai Ho (Note iv)
Mr CHONG Wing Kim, James (Note iv)
Mr FUNG Wai Ching
Mr HUI Lap Shun, John

(HiiRii) (Chief Executive Officer) (Note i and i)
L ik Mr CHIEN Yi-Pin, Mark (Note
AmErs Mr TSE Tik Yang, Denis (Note )
RYU Young Sang Jamesi%  MrRYU Young Sang, James (Note |

11. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2016 is set out below:

REABRAARGETARES2CATRAME RESEE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, KATE

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking -S|

LEBER

payifT

BHRER

i

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

BEH  inrespect of

EZBM director's

Bfig  other services

{E3:0 JEEM  in connection

BHFHMER  Remuneration with the

H4BF  Employer's paid or  management

{55 contribution  receivable  of the affairs

Estimated toa inrespect of of the

MiERa ftE28  moneyvalue  retirement  accepting  Company or
He #4  Discretionary Housing of other benefit office its subsidiary a5
Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme  asdirector  undertaking Total
FEn FEn FET FEn FE7 FEr FEn FET FEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
- 3419 526 - - 158 - - 4,103
- 689 - - - 34 - - 723
4 399 - - - 2 - - 444
- 531 - - - 12 - - 543
- 629 419 - - 2 - - 1,076
200 - - - - - - - 200
150 = = - = = - = 150
100 - - - - - - - 100
474 5,667 945 - - 253 - - 7,339

(i)

BURB A (Hieti) Mr BAKER Sung Mahn, Sam (Note /i)

BUHTES Independent non-executive directors

N 5 Dr Barry Jofn BUTTIFANT (Note )

BRAEL Dr LIU Ngai Wing (Note v)

dp ik Mr CHOI Yuk Fan (Note v)

YRE%HE Mr TANG Tin Lok, Stephen (Note v)

HoAtE Mr KAN Ji Ran, Laurie (Nots v)

RE2fi Mr CHEN Timothy (Note v}
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11. ESAERERD(REB(EERD 11. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
AMRBI) (£ 622F ) £3831% - (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
(RBE(HBESFHZER)R 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
A (%622GE ) REBLTR ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES

g:
798
e
\éb

(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

\
/!

(a) EERTHARMES (Z) (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)
RBEE-_T—AHAF=-A=+—HILHF The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
B ARRZEZZMEWT : year ended 31 March 2015 is set out below:

FEAEEARRREFARNESENENME HEZRE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, NG
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking EFA
LERER

ZEfR

Bffs

&M

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

M inrespect of

BB director's

Eff5  other senices

EEEHR FEAEM  inconnection

FAEEE  Remuneration vith the

EfpiH Employer's paidor  management

ZIEEI%E  contribution receivable  of the affairs

Estimated toa  inrespect of of the

Mg [EEEEE  money value retirement acoepting  Company or
e 4 Discretionary Housing of other benefit office its subsidlary &8
EE3:2 Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme  asdirector  undertaking Total
TAT FA1 A FEn FA7 FAr &1 A1 FAn

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8/000

Executive directors
i) Mr LAU Tak Wan (Chairman) (Note vi) - 3419 - - - 158 - - 3,577
Ms CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Note iv) - 1,168 - - - 54 - - 1,222
Mr CHEUNG Wai Ho (Note iv) - 770 - - - 37 - - 807
Mr CHONG Wing Kim, James (Note iv) = 864 = = = 18 = = 882
Mr FUNG Wai Ching - 609 - - - 28 - - 637
BUFuTES Independent non-executive directors
AR

v DrBany John BUTTIFANT (Note ) 100 - - . - . - i 0

Dr LIU Ngai Wing (Note v) 75 - - - - - - - 75
Mr CHOI Yuk Fan (Note v) 50 = = = = = = = 50
225 6,830 - - - 295 - - 7,350
Hietic R-Z—hAF+—A=-BEZEAH Note i:  Appointed as executive directors on 3 November 2015
18
Htetic: RZZ—AF+—A-+THBEZHE Note ii:  Appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 25 November 2015 and
RITHBHERR T —R"FNA+= resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 12 April 2016
=F3 B
Hietii: RZZT—XRNEOA+-—_BEZEAH Note iii: Appointed as executive directors and Chief Executive Officer on 12 April
TES RITRAEH ) 2016
Hietiv: R-ZZ—RAF+—A-THBETH Note iv: Resigned as executive directors on 25 November 2015
TEF
Hietv: RZZE—AF+_A—BEBEBELHE Note v: Resigned as independent non-executive directors on 1 December 2015
HITEF
Mietvi: R—ZE—hF+-_A—BEZERBE Note vi: Appointed as independent non-executive directors on 1 December 2015
VERITES
Miivii: DRIR—"T—RAF+—A=BKR=F Note vii: Resigned as Chairman and executive director on 3 November 2015 and
—ANFHAT-ZABEEERERATE 12 April 20186, respectively
E=
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11. ESRBRER (KE(EBA  11. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
S f) (E622% ) £3831% - (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
(DA (BEEENFZEN) R 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
BN (E622GE)REEB LMHR ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
BIEER) #) (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(b) LEREHFMAL (b) Five highest paid individuals
AEBEE_ZT—RFER-_ZT—HF= The five highest paid individuals in the Group were executive
A=T—HUEFEZRAZR=HFMAL directors of the Company for the years ended 31 March 2016 and
HERNRNBRTES  BEZHFHIER 2015 whose emoluments were included in Note (a) above.

X ftsE(a) o

(c) EEZENREMNRERF = (c) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits
FRN - BESESHERAQFTREFA None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
AHR A AR 75 i 2 WO ER SR W R R AT 3R AR benefits or termination benefits in respect of their services to the
BRSNS (ZE—RF &) - Company and its subsidiaries for the year (2015: Nil).

(d) RERRESREMGTFE=F2RE (d) Consideration provided to third parties for making available

directors’ services
FA - ARRWERRNQR)ERBEES During the year, the Company has not paid any consideration to
R mmERE=FZHEMRE(Z any third parties for making available directors’ services to the
T—hF:|)o Company (2015: Nil).

(e) EBEERES ZEESECSE4EA (e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
ERLSRFIERCER HUERE in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
Htt X Z 2 ER controlled entities with such directors
RE4E B S EREAER - AR FSA There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into
ANRZFAR(WER)WET VBN E by the Company or subsidiary undertaking of the Company, where
£ REMESEH 2EAE SR EE applicable, in favor of the directors, or body corporate controlled
MEZ=FEEZERZEMER - B by or entities connected with any of the directors at the end of the
ERREMRS(ZE—FF : &) - year or at any time during the year (2015: Nil).

ZEEERERBARAS 100
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11.

12.
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() BEERXS ZERENHZEXRRE

RELBLFAEMERE - ARAESR
BEEAARSETLEARBEXEA
MZEARS  ZHERANTERERK
RMEEBERNEANG(ZFT—HF
&) -

REEEE
B8

AEERBEZERERZEARFEAEESETE
([afEesatE ) RE 2 ERERTE - BES
AEIZEEMBYERZESRR  BURA
SBEZEE -

ERBEEFET  ARERZEEDRIRER
BRAL(RREGIMERERF G2 EE)
BoZEMtH - ARERERES 2 HFKE R
R-ZE—MERNA—RZAIEARR/1,250/8
L HEATHA&E1,600 B BRABR
TR - ZRES HR— &N FraES s 8/
RAMEFEA - ARAHFASEHEEES -

FRE]

BRHPEDEPIRE - FESTEREEHESR
RBEREBRREEIHK - EZAA3 T £E
LEERERESAGHAR(BEHS - 28
RICKDIZATE L PIFTR » BRA LN - &£
BARBINTS BIRR AR 2 Yaas RoAdE o B
ZEBRKTE B EHRARESRHEZ AR
& Uas o

12.

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HONG KONG LISTING
RULES) (continued)

() Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2015: Nil).

PENSION SCHEMES

Hong Kong

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to participate in a
defined contribution scheme as defined in Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”). The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group under independently administered
funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its employees makes
monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s relevant
income, as defined in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance.
Both the Group’s and the employee’s contributions are subjected to a cap
of HK$1,250 per month prior to 1 June 2014 and HK$1,500 per month
thereafter, with contributions beyond these amounts being voluntary. The
contributions are fully and immediately vested to the employees.

Mainland China

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its relevant employees
in Mainland China. The Group and its relevant employees make monthly
contributions to the plans at the respective statutory rates on the relevant
income (comprising salaries, allowances and bonus). The Group has no
further obligations for the actual payment of post-retirement benefits
beyond its contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans are
responsible for the entire post-retirement benefits payable to retired
employees.
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13. BER(ER) EF

(a) '

FRER(EE)  BIRREBEFEAR
AR A AR (BER),EFER AR

A BT E AR IEFIEEE -

RARI A ARIGER

HIE:
AR Bz A ARG IERAR

AREEER A ABGRELEES
(B8, &7

BB TIOBTRE(TR)

BRER(ERE),BFICEML)

— IR LR

(b)  #E

HAm Y R B E ) 2 RTT R E A
FH it SRS (F1R) BRI RGREXR
(B518) /BFER S -

EEEMBRRBEAER QR 102
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13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
(loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

year.

Loss attributable to equity holders of
the Company

Excluding:
Loss from discontinued operations attributable to
equity holders of the Company

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations
attributable to equity holders of the Company

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue ("000)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
(rounded to HK cents)
— Continuing operations
— Discontinued operations

(b) Diluted

=E-R —ZT—T
2016 2015
FHET FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
(97,599) (39,724)
24,791 43,627
(72,808) 3,903
—E-—R —ZF—h
2016 2015
531,555 437,239
(13.70) 0.89
(4.66) (9.98)
(18.36) (9.09)

Dilutive (loss)/earnings per share is of the same amount as the

basic (loss)/earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
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BEE

AEENBETVEEREBREREMEG
—ANFZA=THALFENE

—RER=F
FAERBIT :

R-_Z—E&m A —H
P =%
E R

AFE=A=+—8kK
—F-AFMNA—H

NE

B (Hat7)

N

=

R=F—NF=H=+—8H

BEESEE [AAEKERD
WHR =T —

BEE T HFERBREBTE

1§ EPRM 1Pt HE FIH - [
DD AN EEEEBN 7 -

DiH
FE=ZA=1+—HBItHF
B TERALZEAEBKERTSBZXH
W B = F 4
EA TS E

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2016 are as follows:

The Group’s intangible assets includes goodwill and computer software.
Movements in intangible assets during the year ended 31 March 2015 and

1t i BB B R 4

Acquired
me computer BE
Goodwill software Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
At 1 April 2014 25,901 - 25,901
Exchange differences (3,342) - (3,342)
Provision for impairment (22,559) - (22,559)

At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015

Additions - 1,833 1,833
Amortisation (Note 7) - (153) (153)
At 31 March 2016 - 1,680 1,680

LNz,
77|:

JZ 75 BUR

Goodwill was allocated to the operating segment of “Personal Computer
Products Distribution” and was fully impaired during the year ended 31
March 2015 mainly due to the significant decline in the personal computer
products market in North America starting from the second half of that
financial year which continued subsequent to the year end. The segment
of “Personal Computer Products Distribution” is included in part of the

discontinued operations as a result of the Disposal described in Note 1.
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15. Y% - ERRE

HE-ZF-1F=BA=1-HILEE Yearended 31 March 2015
Opening net book amount
Exchange differences

HAREHE
EXER
Eff

HREEFE

RZB-EFZA=+-A
A
ST ERAE

RHFE

EEEMERERBAERASR
Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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Revaluation
Additions
Impairment
Disposals
Depreciation

Closing net book amount

At 31 March 2015

Cost

Net book amount

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

KiE - &

Accumulated depreciation and impairment -

RERRH

Leasehold

i improvements,

THEEE  RERER furniture, "E  RARIA

Land and Plant and fixtures and Motor Moulds and st
buildings machinery equipment vehicles tooling Total
TA7 TAT TA7 TA TA TA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
55,039 9,197 6,239 2,311 130 72,916
(123) - (37) (4) - (164)
20,536 - - - - 20,536
1,240 1,050 569 - - 2,859
- - (703) (23 - (726)
(48,654) - (268) (328) - (49,250)
(1,408) (2,822) (1,646) (673) (76) (6,625)
26,630 7,425 4,154 1,283 54 39,546
26,630 109,246 41,449 3978 24,337 205,640
(101,821) (37,295) (2,69) (24,283) (166,094)
26,630 7,425 4,154 1,283 54 39,546
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15. Y% - KBERRE = 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
AU
RERRE
Leasehold
B improvements,

IHREF  REREE furniture, RE  BARIA

Land and Plantand fixtures and Motor  Moulds and FH)

buildings machinery equipment vehicles tooling Total

FiEn FiEn FiEr FiEn TiEn TiEn

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BZE-Z-RE=A=t-HLEE Yearended 31 March 2016

HREEE Opening net book amount 26,630 7,425 4,154 1,283 54 39,546
EXE8 Exchange differences - - (32) - = (32)
Bff Revaluation 736 - - = = 736
NE Additions - 174 2,632 - 245 3,651
A Impairment - (3,819) (3,591) (158) (276) (7,844)
& Depreciation (736) (1,593) (1,306) (423) (23) (4,081)
HEFAR(H#31) Disposals of subsidiaries (Note 37) (26,630) - (698) (702) - (28,030)
HREEFE Closing net book amount - 2,787 1,159 - - 3,946
RZE-XE=A=t-H At 31 March 2016
B Cost - 110,020 16,014 - - 126,034
REHTE RAE Accumulated depreciation and impairment - (107,233) (14,855) - - (122,088)
EEFE Net book amount - 2,787 1,159 - - 3,946
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15. Y% - WEBREE 2 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continueq)
(a) T REFREFESMAOT : (a) Net book value of the land and buildings is analysed as follows:
=E-R —ZT—T
2016 2015
FET FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
NRBBZ T RETF : Land and buildings held in Hong Kong on:
10 50 F 2L 2 1EF Leases of between 10 and 50 years - 24,900
R BB AINMIE 2 BF : Buildings held outside Hong Kong on:
10 £50 F 2% Leases of between 10 and 50 years - 1,730
- 26,630
R-ZE—RAF=A=+—H ' 55BN As at 31 March 2015, if the Group’s land and buildings were stated
THFEFREEKARERAR & on historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:
AR
—ZT—Hh
2015
FHEIT
HK$’000
B R Cost 10,002
Z2ETE Accumulated depreciation (3,366)
BREFE Net book amount 6,636
AEFGEENTERS FFIERMBR N Depreciation incurred during the year is charged to the
T consolidated income statement as follows:
—E—R —F—h
2016 2015
FETT FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(Z%))
(Restated)
SHE A Cost of sales 2,113 2,560
—RITHAX General and administrative expenses 1,043 2,083
3,156 4,643
I B R L ET Discontinued operations 925 1,982
ERTE Total depreciation 4,081 6,625

EEEMBRRBEAER QR 106
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15. Y% - EBRRXRE =)

(o)

RBE_ZE—F=A=+—HIFE
THFEFR @ ZRIREFERENTHA
EAEEMEEAMERNEF EBRRAR
%ﬁ'@%?miﬁ“%miﬁﬁﬁm
BREAR EEEEHLSINY
%‘F%&W%Lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂm
BZRAERNER  HZSEETR
7,844,000/ LR E RS

HplmERSmE - HEEENA KD
SRREEHAEERE - EREEFE
TEREEBHENFEYBIAE -

FENRZRERERREELFMNE

EERIETER - RREBHELERED
BRTNERATH - FHEENERERZE
& BRERA5% » BERERRITEE
16.25% ©

BENENXNEEEREBBERRR
HEmGRROMEMNEE - PR
RALEBIAN © PR A S FIR RS

E@ﬁﬁ'i&%ﬁaﬁﬁmﬁﬁ@&
ERTENFERNRR - REEHRSRE

%W%%mmiiﬁm SRR A -
REA A SRR E B - FL - E[
MRRRELEAEEL BB RRE
RRE—TREEBE - HEMNETHE

1% » AR 6% » IR K (FA0)
Ein1%  ARESREEREEENZE

BBEAHPBEHRRLAERK -

HE_ZT-—AF=-A=-+—HLEHFE"
1] A B B 25 SR A 8 5 B (288,000 #7T )
MEF T s 4888 5 7 (438,000 7T )
2N - R R (BR Tt RABFIN)
RAEEE - EFEE NRMRE e

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continueq)

(o)

During the second half of the year ended 31 March 2016, the
business performance of the Electronic Products Manufacturing
segment experienced a significant decline amid the increasing
uncertainties surrounding the global economic environment and
the resulting deterioration of customers’ business. An impairment
assessment has been performed by management on the property,
plant and equipment of this segment and provision for impairment
of HK$7,844,000 was made on these assets based on the results
of such impairment review.

For the purpose of the review, the recoverable amounts of the
related assets are determined based on value-in-use calculations
which use cash flow projections based on the annual financial
budgets approved by management. Cash flows beyond the
annual period are extrapolated according to a constant-growth
assumption covering a four-year period which in aggregate
represents the remaining useful lives of major machinery and
equipment. The key factors used for value-in-use calculations
included gross margin of 15%, zero growth rate and discount rate
of 16.25%.

The budgeted gross margin was determined by management
based on past performance and its expectation for market
development taking into account the latest business situation. The
annual discount rate is before tax and reflects market assessments
of the time value and the specific risks relating to the relevant
segment. Judgment is required to determine key factors adopted
in the cash flow projections. The impairment test is sensitive to
changes in assumptions; consequently, any adverse change in key
assumptions would, in isolation, cause further impairment loss to
be recognised. If there had been a decrease in gross margin by
1%, or a decrease in revenue by 5%, or an increase in discount
rate (pre-tax) by 1%, the additional shortfall of recoverable amount
against carrying value would not be significant to the financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the entire balances of
property, plant and equipment other than land and buildings of the
Personal Computer Products Distribution segment (HK$288,000)
and the Electronic Component Distribution segment (HK$438,000)
were impaired due to the declining performance of these
segments.
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements were:

=E-R —ZT—T
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2015
Opening net book amount 3,540 54,459
Addition - 36
Fair value losses on revaluation of investment properties - (26)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 31)/Disposal (3,540) (50,929)
Closing net book amount - 3,540

Net book value of investment properties is analysed as follows:

—FE-—R —ZF—h
2016 2015
FHET FHEIT
HK$°000 HK$000
Investment properties held outside Hong Kong on:
Leases of between 10 and 50 years - 3,540

The periods of operating leases whereby the Group lease out its
investments properties range from 12 months to 24 months.
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18.
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17. LAND USE RIGHTS

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid operating lease

payments and their net book amounts are analysed as follows:

Year ended 31 March

Opening net book amount

Addition

Amortisation

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 31)/disposal

Closing net book amount

At 31 March
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

18. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

Club debentures
Deposits
Prepaid rental expenses

—E—K —F—h
2016 2015
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
2,092 5,082

- 2,112

= (94)
(2,092) (5,008)

- 2,092

- 2,112

= (20)

- 2,092
—E—X —F—H
2016 2015
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
540 540

- 209

1,227 2,815
1,767 3,564
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19. AREESHMEE

AHfHESREERE

LR
BEES — B8 - BT AR

TREEERR
RieaZAFE  AETREM

Em@EEmSEE

R-E—RAE=A=+—0 £EZELx:
TEEEBRREF FET  UEREEYD
12,153,000/ LfE B (FiFE24) °
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19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:

=E-R —ZT—T
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Listed securities:
Equity securities — Hong Kong, denominated in HK$ - 451
Key management insurance:
Fair value of the insurance contract,
denominated in US$ - 13,637
- 14,088
Market value of listed securities - 451

The key management insurance is pledged as collateral for the Group’s
borrowings amounting to approximately HK$12,153,000 as at 31 March

2015 (Note 24).

Discounted cash flow approach was adopted in the fair value

measurement of the Group’s key management insurance contracts as

at 31 March 2015, with the significant unobservable inputs used being

the crediting rating of 4.4% per annum which is adopted as the discount
rate, and the expected death benefits being estimated at 80% of cost of

insurance.
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19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

(continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 1 instruments for the year

ended 31 March 2016 and 2015:

Beginning of the year
Fair value gains
Disposal of subsidiaries

End of the year

=Z- —ZT—Hh
2016 2015
FHET F&T
HK$’000 HK$'000
451 308

31 143
(482) =

= 451

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year

ended 31 March 2016 and 2015:

Beginning of the year
Fair value gains
Disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment loss

End of the year

—Z- —ZFT—Hh
2016 2015
FET FHET

HK$°000 HK$’000
13,637 15,159

359 =
(13,996) =
= (1,522)

- 13,637

The available-for-sale financial assets have been included in part of the

discontinued operations as a result of the Disposal described in Note 1.
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BRAEAI U ARAEEFENIEFEL
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20.

Trading merchandise

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

Inventories — gross

Provision for impairment

Inventories — net

Notes:

(i

At 1 April

Provision for inventory impairment

Written-off

Disposal of subsidiaries

At 31 March

INVENTORIES
=Z—-R —ZT—T
2016 2015
F#ET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
13,783 68,848
51,546 61,570
13,910 15,001
20,724 21,523
99,963 166,942
(56,698) (50,692)
43,265 116,250

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost of
sales attributable to the Group’s continuing and discontinued operations
amounted to HK$84,936,000 (2015: HK$75,663,000) and HK$195,520,000
(2015: HK$429,655,000), respectively.

Movement in the provision for inventories is as follows:

=E—-R —T—h
2016 2015
FHT FETL
HK$’000 HK$'000
50,692 47,811
26,266 2,881
(7,622) =
(12,638) =
56,698 50,692

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the entire additional provision for
inventory impairment was related to the Electronic Products Manufacturing
segment in the Group’s continuing operations, primarily arising from loss of
customers during the year leading to certain inventories specifically tailored
for these customers not expected to be realisable.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, provision for inventory impairment of
HK$843,000 and HK$2,038,000 was attributable to the Group’s continuing
and discontinued operations, respectively.
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21.
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21. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

—E:— —F—h
2016 2015
FHETT FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000

Trade receivables
— third parties 38,167 103,531
— related parties 5,346 -
43,513 108,531
Less: provision for impairment (16,656) (22,715)
26,857 80,816
Notes receivable - 11,470
26,857 92,286

HK$
RMB
us$
CAD

Note:

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in

the following currencies:

=E-R —E—h
2016 2015
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
- 16,859

21,665 30,805
5,192 32,125

- 12,497

26,857 92,286

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.
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21. EWEXREREBEREE® 21. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Mz (&) Notes: (continued)

(b) REBZABOHERH -—RA=TRE (b) Majority of the Group’s sales are made with credit terms generally ranging
NtXK-BUREHEEEIREBEERAEAN from 30 days to 90 days. The ageing analysis of trade receivables by the
ZERBOWMT ¢ dates on which the relevant sales were made is as follows:

=t SPA -5

2016 2015

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

DRNTR Less than 60 days 22,226 66,591

ANTRE—B=-T+X 60 days to 120 days 4,631 12,049

HE—A_1tX Over 120 days 16,656 24,891

43,513 103,531

R=ZZE—AR"F=ZA=+—8 ' #41,541,000 At 31 March 20186, trade receivables of approximately HK$1,541,000 (2015:

BILTZEWREERE(ZZ - HF HK$21,847,000) were past due but not considered to be impaired because

21,847,000/ 7T ) 4 E 21 ER B I & TR R 1E © UL these mainly relate to certain independent customers for whom there is no

LHIE Y B T HRIDRBHERER L0 E recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables by
NEF ol EF RS ERERAHE KA the days of overdue repayment is as follows:

HBRER A ATANT -

=T —T—h

2016 2015

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

DRANTKR Less than 60 days 1,541 12,049

ANTRE—B=-+X 60 days to 120 days - 7,838

HBE—A_1tX Over 120 days - 1,960

1,541 21,847

I msdm Bl sk R ER E NS (R EN EEE S The credit quality of trade receivables neither past due nor impaired has

DER2ERBH AR ENBEERE been assessed by reference to historical information about the counterparty

TG - WA BF I EE R - default rates. The existing counterparties do not have significant defaults in

the past.

EEEMERERBAERASR 114
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21. BEWEXREBEREREE =)

Hiat - (&)

©

RIE—RF=ZA=+—H BREEEREA
#716,656,000/ 70 (= ZF — A F : 22,715,000
BIT) WRB AN A E K& B R ERE KA
$e o {8 BB E A0 8 W 2R B B R FEARHA
SMEBRBEFHRS -

EREHERB 2 BHZEBHNT

REA—H

HET A

RN SR AR IR R E R A

€8 PO K HE MK I 1 B 2 R TR 3

R=A=+—H

BE_T-—ANE=-A=1t—HLEE &%
B ER S SRS RIS EL A
RS ERIERERE (S —AF i
158 4% 2 3 75 4 1 598,0005% JT B 4 R 7t Ik 3
BETE{EH 723,000/ TTHEHE) ©

B

eSS

R-T—RF=A=+—0 FERKERE
BE=AFHNRTARLER - FHEHA
NF180R A » AARKEGE - ERETH
ME - EREEREAEEEATERE -

21. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Notes: (continued)

(c) At 31 March 2016, trade receivables of approximately HK$16,656,000
(2015: HK$22,715,000) were impaired and fully provided for. The individually
impaired receivables mainly relate to customers who are in unexpected
difficult economic situations.
Movement in the provision for trade receivables is as follows:
=t AP —E—A
2016 2015
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
At 1 April 22,715 21,476
Disposal of subsidiaries (6,059) -
Provision for impairment of trade receivables - 1,321
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable - (82)
At 31 March 16,656 22,715
During the year ended 31 March 2016, no provision for impairment of
trade receivables in respect of the Group’s continuing operations and
discontinued operations were made (2015: provision of HK$598,000
for continuing operations and provision of HK$723,000 for discontinued
operations).
(d) Notes receivable

As at 31 March 2015, all notes receivable represented bank acceptance
notes issued by third parties with average maturity of within 180 days,
which were denominated in RMB. The carrying amounts of notes receivable
approximated their fair values due to their short maturity.
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22, FEMFIE - - REREMEWFIE 22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

—E-X —Z=—h
2016 2015
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERTRIE Prepayments 19,099 7,883
HEFENMIE Rental prepayments 2,102 2,102
HEZS Rental deposits - 63
Hfth UL TR IR Other tax receivables 4,740 -
H & Y R 0E Other receivables 1,292 1,348
27,233 11,396
TER T EEA T HIE Prepayment to a related party 4,849 -
H i FE U BE 3 A T 3IE Other receivables from a related party 777 =
32,859 11,396
RZE-—RNFERZZ-—RF=A=+—80 ' BFRKE As at 31 March 2016 and 2015, prepayments mainly represented payment
TZRAMEERBEERECENERRENESE in advance to suppliers for the purchase of inventories and prepaid rental
FA © 4,849,000 T(=ZF—1fF : &) Z&FHENKIE expenses. HK$4,849,000 (2015: Nil) of these prepayments were made to

TREEREBRERIENEA LA - a related party which acts as the Group’s procurement agent.

EEEMBRRBEAER QR 116
Maxnerva Technology Services Limited



& G B 8% R I R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. RERFATEEY

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

=E-K —T—h

2016 2015

FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

RITHE R Cash at banks 215,491 71,309
bR Cash on hand 686 360
216,177 71,669

RehBReEBYERRTEXBEENTESE

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts include the following for the

MEXRH purposes of the statement of cash flows:
—Z- —ZFT—Hh
2016 2015
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
HERIEESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 216,177 71,669
RITEZ (HTaE24) Bank overdrafts (Note 24) - (2,690)
Re - REEEW Cash and cash equivalents 216,177 68,979

RekAeEBYMUTIEEREL

I HKS$
AR RMB
ET Us$
etk NTD
i CAD
Hh Others

RITEFRE S BRITFRZIZ B R BRIA
BHEA - EEARBRERRESFEY2AH
RN E A A ERTT - ARMBEINELIT
PEFR - TR BT INERE

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

—E—X —F—H
2016 2015
FHETT FET

HK$°000 HK$’000
85,844 14,813
2,241 36,860
82,186 4,303
45,906 =

- 15,657
- 36
216,177 71,669

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB are
deposited with banks in Mainland China. The conversion of these RMB-
denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of
funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government of the People’s
Republic of China.
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24, 88 24. BORROWINGS

—E-X —=—Ah
2016 2015
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
SR1TBEXZ (KaE23) Bank overdrafts (Note 23) - 2,690
MHISRTTE R Short-term bank borrowings 5,500 10,000
IRITIEFEERK Trust receipts bank loans 9,713 44,771
R—FAF B2 RITER Portion of bank borrowings repayable within one year 1,978 5,934

BE—FRIAESEERERERZ Portion of bank borrowings due for repayment after one
RITER year which contains a repayment on demand clause - 11,410
k] Total 17,191 74,805

BE_T-—AF=-A=+—0 —FXIHK
HEZRENRERZEITEFK11,410,0008 7T
ENBEAERSAEE -

ENEEREBREFNGX - EEIBIBERN

As at 31 March 2015, bank borrowings of HK$11,410,000 due for
repayment after one year was subjected to repayment on demand clause

and, accordingly, had been classified as current liabilities.

Disregarding the repayment on demand clauses, the maturity of

N borrowings is as follows:
—FE-—R —ZF—h
2016 2015
FET FEIL
HK$°000 HK$’000
—FR BERNERGTEELZ2E Within 1 year, with reference to the repayment schedule 17,191 63,395
—EEZ-FR Between 1 and 2 years - 748
—FERFR Between 2 and 5 years - 10,662
17,191 74,805
BEREERN TNEEAERK : The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following

currencies:
—FE—R —F—h
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT HK$ 10,916 27,028
ETT Uss$ 6,275 45,087
iz CAD - 2,690
17,191 74,805
ZEEENBERBEAER QR 118
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24.

25.

=0-4¢ ) 24.

REFR  SEBEFHATIHER - HNET
BEEMT

BO RROW' N GS (continued)

The Group’s borrowings are all subject to floating interest rate and the
weighted average effective interest rates at the balance sheet date are as
follows:

—2-X —Z=—h
2016 2015
Er ETT BT T Y/
HK$ uss HK$ USs$ CAD
RITEEER Trust receipt bank loans 2.0% 2.50% 2.31% 2.35% -
HHRITEE Short-term bank borrowings 2.58% - 2.24% 0.75% -
RITIBEX Bank overdrafts - - - - 3.75%

RZB-—RF=A=+—0B FEBREHLRE
B -R-T-—RF=A=+—H8  BETH
12,153,000/ Tl E 2B B ERR G M FE
A FEHRMEE9 -

TR RERZTE—AF=RA=+—8 " A
BEFREREEEDTERT -

As at 31 March 2016, all borrowings are unsecured. As at 31 March 2015,
borrowings of HK$12,153,000 were secured by the key management
insurance contract set out in Note 19.

As at 31 March 2016 and 2015, the carrying amounts of borrowings
approximate their fair values.

PEA{+ &8 £ BR1E 25. TRADE PAYABLES
=F-—= ==
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000

FEf- & ZERRIR Trade payables

—%=h — third parties 36,018 57,930
— BT ~ related parties 4,770 -
40,788 57,930

RES R ERRA—RA=TRENTRK

The majority of the suppliers grant credit period ranging from 30 to 60
days.
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25. FENEERE»)

A& R RE 2 REEDITAT

LRNTR
ANTRE—BZTXK
BA-—B=-tTX

JERT & EBRIBIA T EHE AR -

BT
ARE
eV
il

26. ENERKEMENRE

FE A5 & M AEAT
FaU R

e &R A
HAt TR IR
H At AR

EEEMBRRBEAER QR 120
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25. TRADE PAYABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:

Less than 60 days
60 days to 120 days
Over 120 days

Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$
RMB
Uss$
CAD

26. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accrued salaries and bonuses
Receipts in advance

Accrued operating expenses
Other tax payables

Other payables

=E-R —ZT—T
2016 2015
FHET FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
32,536 47,269
8,252 10,506

- 155
40,788 57,930
—FE-—R —ZF—h
2016 2015
FHETT FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
- 4,806

38,711 16,238
2,077 30,070

- 6,816
40,788 57,930
—FE-—R —F—h
2016 2015
FHETT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
2,250 6,565
532 1,542
4,022 9,722
1,292 4,501
1,051 1,703
9,147 24,033
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27. EEFIBH

EREAERMASHEEREEERRGNES
B - MELER IR &R — B B RS - Al
AT IE P15 75 & B BLEIE AT S B & B B AR
e AEERBRLEZASR  REEHRZN
T

BEERIRE E
BEEHBAEE

EEFABRFR

BEPTSTUFEZEFNT

F1

& BRI R 8

— B EED
RYE B AR (H229)
HEFAHA

FR

27. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current income tax assets against current
income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the
same fiscal authority. The balances shown in the consolidated balance
sheet are, after offsetting, as follows:

—E—-X —ZE—h

2016 2015

FET FET

HK$°000 HK$’000

Deferred income tax assets - 115
Deferred income tax liabilities - (12,311)
Net deferred income tax liabilities - (12,196)

The movement in net deferred income tax is as follows:

—E—X —ZE—h

2016 2015

FHETT FET

HK$°000 HK$’000

Beginning of the year (12,196) (3,918)
Charged to the consolidated income statement

— Discontinued operations 81 (5,069)

Charged to property revaluation reserve (Note 29) - (3,209)

Disposal of subsidiaries 12,115 -

End of the year - (12,196)
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27. EZEMRBH »

FRBEHEAERAEY #
B2 EHEHA) T

EERBEE

F1
K& GEFER X 8
—EREREER

HETRE(HEE31)

FR

EEHBARE

REOA—H
RA GABRTHR

—EREREE
HEFRR(A7£31)

R=A=+—H
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27. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(R — i The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities prior to offsetting of
balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Beginning of the year

Charged to the consolidated income statement

— Discontinued operation
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 317)

End of the year

Deferred tax liabilities

RIEBE
Tax losses
=E—-R —ZT—T
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
115 241
(2) (126)
(113) -
- 115
—E-R
2016
MERERE WEEGHE
Accelerated Revaluation
tax gain of HE
depreciation properties Total
FET FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
37 4,103 12,311
(10) - (83)
(27) (4,103) (12,228)

MEBE

Withholding

tax

FET

HK$°000

At 1 April 8,171
Credited to the consolidated income

statement

- Discontinued operations (73)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 317) (8,098)

At 31 March -
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27. EZEMRBH )

27. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

EESEAE(HE) Deferred tax liabilities (continued)
—T-—F
2015
MARBIE  DEEMFHRE
MEHE Accelerated Revaluation
Withholding tax gain of “E
tax depreciation properties Total
FET FET FET FAET
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REOA—H At 1 April - 273 3,886 4,159
EAHABRIE(GER) Charged/(credited) to the consolidated
income statement
— IR E X - Discontinued operations 8,171 (236) (2,992) 4,943
REGEFESL Charged to revaluation reserve - - 3,209 3,209
R=A=+—H At 31 March 8,171 37 4,103 12,311

AT TR I8 & B Ty E 1A % 2R P B £ B SR B i A1 T
BHMNMHEABTIEN AR - R AERIEER
{EMERR - AN B gk R 58 4995,215,000
BT ERIELERIBEEE418,369,000%8 T -
L ERIEE R AT EE SRR EF o B
—T-XEZA=+—8  RiHRESEYD
18,380,000 7TC * BR=ZTE—R"E_T_TF
HARE I ¢ ek T Al PT A PR HAHE 8 A OR 2 FEER
FimF o

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry-forwards to
the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through the future
taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of approximately HK$18,369,000 in respect of accumulated
losses amounting to approximately HK$95,215,000 that can be carried
forward against future taxable income. As at 31 March 2016, accumulated
tax loss amounting to approximately HK$18,380,000 are expiring in 2016
to 2020, while the remaining amounts can be carried forward indefinitely to
offset against future taxable income.
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28. RARKGRE

28. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

R Share capital
—E— —ZF—h
2016 2015
RO E H{E e 4E [EEED
Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value of shares value
FiR FET Fhg FEIT
’000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’000
JRRE Authorised:
TR FAXEEO.10 BT Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
RnEE
Number FET
of shares HK$’000
EETRHREBAR Ordinary shares issued and fully paid:
RZZ—HEMA—AH - As at 1 April 2014, 31 March and 1 April 2015
—E-RF=A=+—HBEKMA—H 437,238 43,724
BT (K ita) Issuance of shares (Note a) 225,000 22,500
R-ZE—ARF=A=+—H As at 31 March 2016 662,238 66,224
IR 10 E Share premium
FAET
HK$'000
R-ZFE—NFE™A—H As at 1 April 2014 233,196
Bl A1 5 (B (A atb) Reduction of share premium (Note b) (233,196)
RZE—RE=A=+—HBKMA—H As at 31 March and 1 April 2015 =
BTG (M aFa) Issuance of shares (Note a) 234,640
RZE—ARF=A=1+—H As at 31 March 2016 234,640

EEEMBRRBEAER QR 124
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28.

29.

ARG EE =)

MRADE1E (42
Hista :

R=ZZFT—RF+A=+NAB  XAFH M Asia-
O - Asia-IO Holdings Limited % Huatai Principal
Investment | Limited & 7 & 3£ 144,698,889 % -
43,439,139 f% % 36,861,972 % & i& % ( 225,000,000
%) RBEASR11448TT - FIBRIBBEEETA
257,400,0005% 7T » H #122,500,0005% 7T 5t ABEA -
£#4%8234,640,000/8 T (EMBRIRNEEEELERNERER
B H 2 FH260,000/870) 5 ABRDHE

Mzt -

RARREZZT—NFNATBRITHRFEFK
g L QAR BE O B R 19 )% B 233,196,000 7%
T+ BAKEE AR A B2 RETETE ©

e

R-E-R&€NA-A
FEFE

REH:34)

AR ESREELATENE

At 1 April 2015

Loss for the year

Dividends (Note 34)

Fair value gains on available-for-sale
financial assets

T REFSMHE - B
net of tax

Release of exchange reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries

Disposal of subsidiaries

Currency translation differences

HEFARRELZLARE

HEFAT
SBELER

RZB—E=A=t-H At 31 March 2016

28.

Revaluation gains on land and buildings,

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

(continued)

Share premium (continued)

Note a:

On 29 October 2015, the Company issued 144,698,889, 43,439,139 and 36,861,972
ordinary shares (225,000,000 shares in total) at a subscription price of HK$1.144 per
share to Asia-lO, Asia-10 Holdings Limited and Huatai Principal Investment | Limited,
respectively. The total gross proceeds amounted to HK$257,400,000, among
which HK$22,500,000 was credited as share capital and the remaining balance of
HK$234,640,000 (net of legal and professional fees of HK$260,000) arising from the
share placement was credited as share premium.

Note b:
On the Company’s annual general meeting held on 12 September 2014, the

reduction of share premium of HK$233,196,000 for offsetting against the Company’s
accumulated losses was approved by the Company’s shareholders.

29. RESERVES
fttE
SREE
EftfRfE
Available- REER/
EXffE  EXEE EEfE  forsale  MEER  (BiER)
(Hrz() 1 (Hf&fi))  financial #%&  Retained
Capital Capital REGE  Statutory assets  Property  earnings/
reserve redemption  Exchange reserve revaluation revaluation (accumulated st
(Note (i)) reserve reserve  (Note (ii) reserve reserve losses) Total
FET FEn FET FEn FET TEn TE7n AT
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
41,201 1,402 (13,032) 90 386 17,163 95,367 142,577
- - o = - - (97,599) (97,599)
- - - - - - (100,565)  (100,565)
- - - - 390 - - 390
- - - - - 736 - 736
- - 16,785 - - - - 16,785
- - - - (776) (17,899) 18,675 -
- - (3,763) - - - - (3,763)
41,201 1,402 (10) 90 - - (84,122) (41,439)
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29. fF#E» 29. RESERVES (continued)
AL E
ERAE
E
Available- (R:fER)/
EXGE  AAED EEE forsale  MEERE  RERF
() it e financial B (Accumulated
Capital Capital S#GE  Statutory assets Property losses)/
reserve  redemption  Exchange reserve  revaluation  revaluation retained st
(Note (i)) reserve reserve (Note (ii) reserve reserve earnings Total
AL FAL FEL FAT FEL FAT FEL FEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-E-MEMA—B At 1 April 2014 41,201 1,402 (3,991) 90 243 - (6243 (37,29)
FEBR Loss for the year - - - - - - (39,724) (39,724)
e (Hfst54) Dividends (Note 34) = = = = = - i8R (21862
BRI R (E Reduction of share premium - - - - - - 2331% 233,19
L ESREEATENR Fair value gains on available-for-sale
financial assets - - - - 143 - - 143
ThkEFafilE  Bi Revaluation gains on land and buildings,
net of tax - - - - - 17,163 - 17,163
NEERES Currency translation differences - - (9,041) - - - - (9,041)
RZE-R%=A=1-H At 31 March 2015 41,201 1,402 (18,032) 90 386 17,163 95,367 142,577
Mt - Notes:

i) REBZ EAEEARNARETZRNEE
HRER - AN FEESAEETAAR
MNTFRRRAEEMREZEZR  MER=F
TTE= A= +— AR REERE SR
EE M E £ R ZB#R51,594,000/8 7T °

(ii) FEAEZ FRRIZEAEENEEARE
WRRIZ BB MEER -

EERERMERBE AR A 126

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

(i

Capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
amount of the share capital issued by the Company and the nominal amount
of the share capital of the subsidiaries transferred to the Company pursuant
to a group reorganisation in 1994, and the credit of HK$51,594,000 from
share capital as a result of a reduction of the Company’s share capital taken
place during the year ended 31 March 2000.

Statutory reserve of a subsidiary in Mainland China can be utilised to offset
future losses or increase the capital of the subsidiary.
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30. EHRERER

(a) BRASHAIGIREKETHEAZRE
AR

BRI ATE R BRI ERE R

& W SR AR TR E
W% - s RRERE
R ERYE
REWMELNTFEER
At ESREERE

HELERE  REVERYE -
Hees sk i an
HEFARZERE

BEELED :

H

B 2 5B R IR R 1R

BITHUR « e R ABAR R

AR EAEAR
HA A 08

REFPER RS

30. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash used in
operations:

Loss before income tax including discontinued
operations

Adjustments for:

Interest income

Interest expense

Depreciation and amortisation

Impairment of goodwill

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Provision for impairment of inventories

Fair value loss on investment properties

Impairment loss on available-for-sale
financial assets

Gains on disposals of land use rights, investment
properties and property, plant and equipment

Losses on disposal of subsidiaries

Changes in working capital:

Inventories

Trade and notes receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Trade payables, accruals and other payables

Cash used in operations

—FE-R —T—Hh
2016 2015
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(96,720) (30,024)
(670) (1,321)
1,246 2,105
4,234 6,719
= 22,559
= 1,321
7,844 726
26,266 2,881
= 26
= 1,522
= (27,139)
18,577 =
(39,223) (20,625)
408 (3,653)
(20,910) 2,817
(21,750) 3,606
25,721 (24,125)
(55,754) (41,980)
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30. EHEREERER )

EEHREREBRA - HELHER
T REMERNE  BERRENA
BsREBRE

(b)

FREDFE

aNHEeER (M)
HETIERE  REMERYE
s KRR e FE

HELhERE REMERDE
Hees KRB PTIS RIR

Het - REBEEBVDENEER B SEA
EALERE 2HSREREE
RHEMZEMNE TEHH36MEA « Ut
EREEREARNESERT S
NEBEN 2B RES G AER

FIFEKERY

R-ZZE-—RF+A-TIAR  AEEHERH
EREMI00%KEBHET —RMBAEERE
BENER KEESFRHEEER-_ZT—1
FNA=T—HNEESRE  ©REBBHER
102,376,000 7T - EF Lz f D HMEAAE
MERPHSKEDHMITHHEREERE B

AEEFEEMRBE T —RF=ZA=1+—H
IFFEDRRIEFELEET - &l:ﬁ\\ HES
HIFAENE  TAAEERHES THRERE
BB RE o

31.

HEEERAHFIERAN 25 RIEFFEL
%o LBEFEEET

X

EEEMBRRBEAER QR
Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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30.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (continued)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposals of land use rights, investment properties and
property, plant and equipment comprise:

=E-R —ZT—T

2016 2015

FHET FEIT

HK$°000 HK$’000

Net book amount - 105,187

Prepaid rental expenses (Note) - (5,633)

Net gains on disposals of land use rights, investment

properties and property, plant and equipment - 27,139
Proceeds from disposals of land use rights, investment

properties and property, plant and equipment - 126,693

31.

Note:  Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement in relation to the
disposal of properties, the Group is entitled to occupy certain
portion of the disposed properties free of rental charges and
management fee for a period of 36 months from the date of
disposal. The rental value of such occupancy is recognised
as prepaid rental expenses and would be amortised to the
consolidated income statement over the rent-free period on a

straight-line basis.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 29 October 2015, the Group disposed of its 100% equity interest in the
Disposal Group to an entity wholly owned by Mr. Lau at a consideration
equivalent to the net asset value of the Disposal Group as of 31 August
2015, which was mutually agreed at an amount of HK$102,376,000. The
operating segments of Electronic Components Distribution and Personal
Computer Products Distribution were managed under the Disposal Group
and had been classified as discontinued operations for the year ended 31
March 2016, as a result of the Disposal. In addition, the Disposal Group
was also involved in property holding and provision of certain central
management functions to the Group.

The relevant results are presented as discontinued operations in the
consolidated income statement. Comparative figures have been restated.
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31.

IFEREEK »

WEFFHELEXBRN _ZE-—AFOA—HE
—ZE-RF+TA-tABRHERS) MERE
ECE-RAF=A=+—HILFENEEHRT

(U

3

i3
HEFARZERE
B PTAS TR AT &S 18
PSR

IEFEREER 2B/ FEBR

31. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

March 2015 are set out below:

Revenue
Expenses

Losses on disposal of subsidiaries

Loss before income tax

Income tax expense

Loss for the period/year from discontinued operations

The results of these discontinued operations for the period from 1 April
2015 to 29 October 2015 (the date of Disposal) and for the year ended 31

—E-hEF

A—HZ

—E-hEF
+B=1+hB HZE
HE —E=-h4
Period from =H=+—H
1 April IFFE
2015 to Year ended
29 October 31 March
2015 2015
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
216,794 400,816
(222,448) (434,320)
(18,577) -
(24,231) (83,504)
(560) (10,123)
(24,791) (43,627)
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31. 3"5%"%,.«7%%;]'%(%) 31. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)
HEEENRHERHZTEEERAEDEN The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group as at the
T date of disposal are as follows:

FET
HK$°000
EHEEEFE Net assets disposed
ME - BB MR Property, plant and equipment 28,030
b {E R RE Land use rights 2,092
AN ESREE Available-for-sale financial assets 14,478
BEE Investment properties 3,540
RIEFTEIREE Deferred income tax assets 113
FE Inventories 46,346
FEW SRR R HM REEE Trade receivables and other current assets 86,203
WERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 45,827
BEEFRBREsE Deferred income tax liabilities (12,228)
B EEREREMTRBIEE Trade payables and other current liabilities (58,686)
BE Borrowings (51,332)
EHEEEFERAE Carrying amounts of net assets disposed 104,383
FEPE G M e e Non-controlling interests (215)
B BRERIE 5 E Exchange reserve released 16,785
HETFRNFZER Losses on disposal of subsidiaries (18,577)
BEEBEHZE HSNRE Cash consideration in accordance with sale and purchase
agreement 102,376
FRRHESHEURS BT THRRE : Total consideration in relation to the disposal, fully paid by cash during the year:
FETT
HK$°000
HESECRERESTAOT ! An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal
group is as follows:
RENE Cash consideration 102,376
i Less:
FALESEEZRe KBS EEY Cash and cash equivalents included in the Disposal Group (45,827)
FAAREBEIMSRESRENRER Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in
ReEEBMRNFHE cash flows from investing activities 56,549
ZEEENBERBEAER QR 130
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31. FEFEKLEEK =

FHEREERZRERE
REFFAAFRS
KRERD(M) EEZFRE
MELRBAACEFRS
RERBFHE

RESEsZ2EMTA

REZRAZIZERE D 2R T AEENT

32.

TREE

& R AR A
1B N L A & YUK
e MREFEY

31. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

—E-hEF

mA—HBZE

—E—HE
+A=+AaAR BH=E
HE —=—AF
Period from =—HA=+—H
1 April IEFE
2015 to Year ended
29 October 31 March
2015 2015
FHETT FET
HK$°000 HK$’000

Cash flows from discontinued operations

Net cash used in operating activities (2,035) (44,793)
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (291) 123,303
Net cash used in financing activities (2,193) (61,806)
Net cash flows (4,519) 16,704

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Financial assets

Trade receivables
Deposits and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

—m_x
2016

BER
WA
Loans and
receivables
FET
HK$°000

26,857
2,069
216,177

245,103
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32. REFEE s2E€MI A 32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(continued)
—ZT—x
2016
s@mas
778 £ 12%:N
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
LRAEE Financial liabilities cost
FET
HK$’000
FET & S ERTE Trade payables 40,788
BE Borrowings 17,191
FE B R R E A ERTR Accruals and other payables 7,323
65,302
—Z—h
2015
Al

CRUEE BEXR

Available-for- FE WK TE
sale financial Loans and #aiE
ERMEE Financial assets assets receivables Total
FETT F&T FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AEHEeREE Available-for-sale financial assets 14,088 - 14,088
FEUUE SRR K BN =R Trade and notes receivables = 92,286 92,286
& N H A Uk Deposits and other receivables — 1,411 1,411
ReERREEED Cash and cash equivalents = 71,669 71,669
14,088 165,366 179,454

ZEEERERBARAS 132
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32.

33.

34.

REESS 2SI

TRAE

B &% ARE

=1

A B A e B At R 3R

IR

RZE—ARERZZT—RF=A=1+—H ' 4
REMEEFAARE 2 BERO 0 EE
RRZ &ERFHEERNAERBESFTAT

F—FR

FE_EEE=FR

TRERMs  AEEZLERN—REH—F=
=Fo

%:? NER—TE-—RF=ZA=+—H K
S ES ﬁ@EKZ%W

Hﬁ 1%\
HE_Z—ANFZA=+—HLEEFEE ' AA

AEEMMEIRERRRESHREBRK23

BUUM(ZZE—RF  FRLETBRSE) £4
100,565,000/ 7L (= ZF —HF : 21,862,00078
) ©

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)

—E—T

2015
ERAE -
R SE AR

Financial

liabilities at
amortised
cost
FET
HK$’000

Financial liabilities

57,930
74,805
17,990

Trade payables
Borrowings
Accruals and other payables

150,725

33. COMMITMENTS

At 31 March 2016 and 2015, the future aggregate minimum lease
payments in respect of land and buildings under non-cancellable operating
leases were as follows:

=F-N —ZE—1%

2016 2015

FET FET

HK$°000 HK$’000

Not later than one year 905 8528
Later than one year and not later than three years 1,637 6,527
2,542 10,050

Generally, the Group’s operating leases are for terms of one to three years.

The Group did not have other significant commitments at 31 March 2016
and 2015.

34. DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company declared and paid
a special dividend of HK 23 cents (2015: HK 5 cents) per ordinary share
totaling approximately HK$100,565,000 (2015: HK$21,862,000).

133 Annual Report 2015/16 4§



B O B RS SRR B o

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35. FRAEALIRS 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
RZZT—HhF=HA=+—H - Leading Trade As at 31 March 2015, Leading Trade Limited and China Capital Holdings
Limited [ China Capital Holdings Investment Investment Limited owned 17.42% and 30.64% of the Company’s shares,
Limited 2 5l # & 4~ 2 R1 17.42% % 30.64% & respectively. These companies are under the control of the Company’s
B -R-_E—RAF=-A=+—HEmHEQAY directors, Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, who were collectively regarded as the
MARESLSEREL s - iR E A ultimate controlling parties as at 31 March 2015.

AR AL ©
R-ZZ—AE+A=-+HIA ' BleEEFEL+ On 29 October 2015, Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan disposed of their entire
MAsia-IOH SR ERA R RN E =R beneficial equity interests in the Company to Asia-10.
RZE—RNFE=ZA=+—H ' 58.28% 2 A&7 As at 31 March 2016, 58.28% of the Company shares were held by Asia-
f& 0 B3 Asia-I0FF A ° Asia-I0AFSK Holdings 10. Asia-lO is a fund controlled by FSK Holdings Limited, a company
Limited (RBBFMKZ 2 A7) 2z & incorporated in Hong Kong.
IMAEESFEFEERAB 2EMKEHHA Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or any
LB HE R — T AR ERK member of its key management personnel or their close family members
BEAZESR ZINANIGE - BE&EA LA has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence over
AZEANEEE - the parties in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa.
Related parties may be individuals or entities.
MR EMm I DT RAEEA LB RN The following is a summary of significant related party transactions
AREBNBEEALTREBESTIVANEKRM entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group and its
BATR S A RBEE AT FE SR LR related parties and the balances arising from related party transactions in
AR addition to the related party information shown elsewhere in the financial
statements.
(a) BEAEREATZRS (a) Transactions with related parties
—E-X —Z=—h
2016 2015
BtaE FET FAET
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
& EHREMR L4361 Alden Inc. Operating lease rental paid to 361 Alden Inc. (i) 664 1,139
HEEM Sales of goods (i) 3,726 -
RERS Rendering of services (ii) 2,458 _
BEEM Purchases of goods (i) 2,235 -
FRREARNcEXEER Professional fee recharged from
a related party (iv) 857 -
HeRX Commission expenses (iii) 241 -
ZEEENBERBEAER QR 134
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35. BEEATIRZ @

(a)

(b)

BERBEALTZRS(E)

R-TB—RNFE=ZA=+—08 EKEH
i AT 785,346,000 (ZE—F
F:F) }&5,626,0008T9 55t AR
& B O B i 2 32 AR TR I L i PR UGROE
i P& B F i A = 5384,770,000% 7T

(==

—HEF  E) ARAREERE

& RARIA -

HsE

(i)

(i)

(il

(iv)

361 Alden Inc. B A A RIESRZIE4E
kBt ERZES - #BHEMAS
FX RN ERBEZSEM
BE o ZFHITAREEIERE

HERBEERIDRAMTHL #
[R5 7€ 2 [EAE AR -

BRT5 165k AR RART 4973 2R 5E ©

ERETETRBREREE
SNZEXEER -

TEEEAS ZHRMH

T& R/

TE4L

RIRE KA — ER KRG B

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(a) Transactions with related parties (continued)

As at 31 March 2016, amounts due from related parties of
HK$5,346,000 (2015: Nil) and HK$5,626,000 are included in the
Group’s trade receivables and other receivables respectively,
whereas amounts due to related parties of HK$4,770,000 (2015:

Nil) are included in the Group’s trade payables.

Note:

(i) 361 Alden Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan,
directors of the Company. Operating lease rental expense is
determined at rate mutually agreed between the parties. These
expenses are included in the results of the Group’s discontinued
operations.

(ii) Sales and purchases of goods are charged at prices mutually
agreed by the relevant parties.

(iii) Terms of services are mutually agreed by the relevant parties.

(iv) Professional fee is charged on a actual basis which is mutually
agreed by the relevant parties.

(b) Key management compensation
ZE—X —F—H
2016 2015
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Salaries and allowances 5,667 6,830
Bonuses 945 -
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 253 295
6,865 7,125
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BE

FRBEE
RERKE
HFRARINRE
i G R/NCIE /S

RBEE
FE BRI K H At UK IR
RERREFED

HEE

i
DNEEDFAABERE
Rf#fE
LN
Bt &
fré

Mg

&
RBEE
&5 28 P % HL At A SR IE

wE

oh

mEEREE

ARNAZAERBRCEEFRR -F— A%

NAZTBRHETKREE -

FAE AREB
EF:1 TTIARE,
TRERNBBRBAMRAA 186

Maxnerva Technology Services Limited

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Furniture and fixtures
Investments in subsidiaries
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Current assets
Prepayments and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to equity
holders of the Company
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

AATEEABERE#ESS 36. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS
OF THE COMPANY

—E—R —ZE—Hh

2016 2015

HiaE FET FHEIT
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
5 —

(a) 1 44,715
156,332 118,884

156,338 163,599

812 112

58,269 469

59,081 581

215,419 164,180

66,224 43,724

234,640 -

(b) (87,400) 119,599
213,464 163,323

1,955 857

1,955 857

215,419 164,180

Directors on 30 June 2016 and was signed on its behalf.

HUI Lap Shun, John
Chairman

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of

BAKER Sung Mahn, Sam

CEO
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36. FARFAIZEERERRHEHEZE

(%)

(a)

FAT

RZE-—RF=ZA=T—HZFEFA

AFRMT :

AR
Company

ERkERR
Interests held directly

Daiwa Nominees Limited

Grand Ditto Limited

Upright Ample Limited

BELARR

Interests held indirectly

BNEERRAA

Daiwa Manufacturing Limited

BEHRARAT

Grand Field Technology Limited

Maxnerva Technology Service Inc.

Chiasso Inc.

Chinacorp Limited

HME/ R 2
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

ABRAES
British Virgin Islands

EERABE
British Virgin Islands

EBRAES
British Virgin Islands

&b
Hong Kong

&b
Hong Kong

L
a

i

Taiwan
ABRAHS
British Virgin Islands

EBRAHE
British Virgin Islands

36.

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(a)

TELENY
Principal place
of operation

ABRLHS
British Virgin Islands

HERAES
British Virgin Islands

EBRAHS
British Virgin Islands

B
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

N
=)

Taiwan

&
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

Subsidiaries

BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

Particulars of significant subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016 are as

follows:

BRARARRA
Issued and fully
paid up capital

100%7T
US$100

1%
US$1

e
US$1

4B
HK$4

18T
HKS1
250,000,000% & %
TWD250,000,000
2ET
Uss$2

E
US$1

R=A=t-H

FrsREE AL

Percentage of

equity interest

held as at

31 March

E-xn 51
2016 2015
100% 100%

100% =

100% =

100% 100%
100% =

100% =

100% 100%

100%  100%

EEERER
Type of legal entity

AREAAE
Limited liability company

BREEAT
Limited liability company

AREAAE
Limited liability company

AREAAE
Limited liability company

AREMAAR
Limited liability company
AREERT
Limited liability company
AREAAE
Limited liability company

BREEAT
Limited liability company

IERH

Principal activities

RAZR

Investment holding

RERER
Investment holding

RAZR

Investment holding

HESTHEER
Manufacturing of
electronic products

RARR

Investment holding

AR RBAE
BANR

Smart manufacturing
and office solutions

REAZR

Investment holding

REER
Investment holding
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36. ARRZEERBRRHEHEZE 36.

(%)

(a)

FRAR(E)

R=B—AF=A=+—AZEBIA
AEHIT : ()

2AF
Company

BESERE(E)

Interests held indirectly (continued)

AHEXERAT

Unity Electrical Industrial Limited

FHERAT

Don Dynamic Limited

ANBRNARAA

Daiwa Interconnect Limited

HEETOTR)ERAT

(China Faith Electronics
(Heyuan) Limited)

ANEF(TR)ERAR

(Daiwa Electronics (Heyuan)

Company Limited)

AREX(TR)ERAA

(Unity Industrial (Heyuan) Limited)

ALY/ R
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

&
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

Giléd

Mainland China

GilEd

Mainland China

GilEd

Mainland China

ERE(ER)RHHERBERAR 78

Wisecloud Technology Service Inc.  Mainland China

EEEMERERBAERASR
Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(a)

TEREHY
Principal place
of operation

&
Hong Kong

&k
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

iled

Mainland China

hE

Mainland China

hE

Mainland China

hE

Mainland China

Subsidiaries (continued)

BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS

Particulars of significant subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016 are as
follows: (continued)

BRARARRE
Issued and fully
paid up capital

2,000,007
HK$2,000,000

4ET
HK$4

1,007
HK$1,000

HRREAEAR
1,200,000%70

Registered and
paid up capital of
US$1,200,000

M RBHER
3,600,000%7

Registered and
paid up capital of
UUS$3,600,000

M RBHER
2,050,000%7

Registered and
paid up capital of
US$2,050,000

M RBHER
10,000,000% 7

Registered and
paid up capital of
US$10,000,000

W=RA=t-8H
FrsRER AL
Percentage of
equity interest
held as at
31 March
-5 51
2016 2015
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% =

EEERES
Type of legal entity

ARELEAT
Limited liability company

ARELAR
Limited liability company

BREARA
Limited liability company

SNERERALR

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

HNERERALR

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

HNERERALR

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

BERRERH

Limited liability company

IBEH

Principal activities

HERRERD
Manufacture of electric
wires

RARR
Investment holding

AR

Investment holding
HEETHEER

Manufacturing of
electronic products

HEETHEER

Manufacturing of
electronic products

HEERER

Manufacture of electric
wires

BERERBAE
BARR

Smart manufacturing
and office solutions
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(%)

(a)

(b)

36. KRRz EEEERKFHEESE 36. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

FAE(E) (a) Subsidiaries (continued)

HtaF - Notes:

(i) ERAFARGB ZFRARE @ IARR (i) The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which,
FIEENAEEEEEARAEKNE in the opinion of the Company’s directors and the Group’s
EAFEXEEEEER/  EE management, principally contributed the results or formed a
AEBRIBHEEFEZFAA substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
ERSHMTARZEN  E2g other subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive length.
RERBRITE °

(i) BE_Z—REER-_ZT—HFE=H (i) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time
=t BLFESFRARHELM during the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015.
BEITZEEER

(iii) REBIR MY 2 S B A a) N & IE (iii) The English names of the group companies incorporated in
NENARSE BEERNBE QRSP Mainland China represent the best effort by the directors in
NETBBZ AT - translating its Chinese name as they do not have official English

names.

(iv) KA A Daiwa BVI Limited#9100%

% #E (1% & BR {8 & 44,714,000 7 (iv) The Company’s 100% equity interests in Daiwa BVI Limited with a
TBEE-_Z—RE+A=-THABEH carrying amount of investment amounting to HK$44,714,000 was
EFHETHKED - disposed of upon the completion of Disposal on 29 October 2015.
AATZIEEEE (b) Reserve movements of the Company
(REtER)
N REBF
BEEfE (Accumulated
Capital BEXRGFE losses)/
redemption Capital retained st
reserve reserve earnings Total
TFET T AT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZE-MFEMA—H At 1 April 2014 1,402 72,309 (165,352) (91,641)

NG ] Reduction of share premium - - 233,196 233,196

BRE (Hz34) Dividends (Note 34) - - (21,862) (21,862)

FEEE Loss for the year - - (94) (94)

R-Z-—RE=A=+—HKF  At31 March 2015 and

R-ZZE—hFMA—H 1 April 2015 1,402 72,309 45,888 119,599

B (Hzt34) Dividends (Note 34) - - (100,565) (100,565)

FEBE Loss for the year - - (106,434) (106,434)

R=B-A¥=A=1-H At 31 March 2016 1,402 72,309 (161,111) (87,400)
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Five Year Financial Summary

HFEHBHRE

UTRARBEBERAFRE 2AMHEE BEREE -

BB (FBREER)

EEBOEREREER)

EREBRER

IR E(h (51R) % 7

BERE
BERE
BEFE
EEEN

i (B I HoAtb i s

PR AR

FEFE IR

T B R
Mt RERBRERBIYE

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Group for the last five years.

Turnover (Continuing
operations)

Turnover (Discontinued
operations)

Total turnover

(Loss)/profit attributable
to shareholders

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

Share capital

Share premium and
other reserves

Shareholders’ equity

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

hEMBEHEMBBEDR  Note:

BMEBF2LXBREET  UHEARFEZET -

EEEMBRRBEAER QR
Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
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—E—X —F—*h
2016 2015
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(E31)
(Restated)
111,317 130,310
216,794 400,816
328,111 531,126
(97,599) (89,724)
326,551 355,595
67,126 169,079
259,425 186,516
66,224 43,724
193,201 142,577
259,425 186,301
- 215
259,425 186,516

—ZE—m
2014
FAET
HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)

169,062

459,238

618,300

8,175

454,434

214,597

239,837

43,724

195,898

239,622

215

239,837

HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)

78,280

969,882

1,048,162

(171,008)

454,360

229,633

224,727

39,424

185,088

224,512

215

224,727

The following is a summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the

—=_ —

2012
F#ET
HK$’000
(E31)
(Restated)

167,571

1,251,046

1,408,617

8,786
817,513
439,049
378,464

31,5639

346,976
378,515
(51)

378,464

Turnover of each of the previous periods included in the five year financial summary

has been restated to conform to the current year presentation as a result of the

discontinued operations.
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